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ESSAY QUESTIONS AND SELECTED ANSWERS 
 
 FEBRUARY 2022  
 

  CALIFORNIA BAR EXAMINATION 
 
This publication contains the five essay questions from the February 2022 California Bar 
Examination and two selected answers for each question. 
 
The selected answers are not to be considered “model” or perfect answers. The answers 
were assigned high grades and were written by applicants who passed the examination 
after the First Read. They are reproduced as submitted by the applicant, except that minor 
corrections in spelling and punctuation were made for ease in reading. These answers 
were written by actual applicants under time constraints without access to outside 
resources. As such, they do not always correctly identify or respond to all issues raised 
by the question, and they may contain some extraneous or incorrect information. The 
answers are published here with the consent of the authors.  
 
 
Question Number Subject 
 

1. Criminal Law and Procedure 

 

2. Community Property 

 

3.                                                   Torts / Remedies 

 

4.                                                   Evidence / Professional Responsibility 
 
 
5.                                                   Business Associations / Remedies   
 

  

  

OFFICE OF ADMISSIONS 

  



 

 
 

ESSAY QUESTION INSTRUCTIONS 
 

 
Your answer should demonstrate your ability to analyze the facts in the question, to tell 
the difference between material facts and immaterial facts, and to discern the points of 
law and fact upon which the case turns. Your answer should show that you know and 
understand the pertinent principles and theories of law, their qualifications and 
limitations, and their relationships to each other. 

Your answer should evidence your ability to apply the law to the given facts and to 
reason in a logical, lawyer-like manner from the premises you adopt to a sound 
conclusion. Do not merely show that you remember legal principles. Instead, try to 
demonstrate your proficiency in using and applying them.   

If your answer contains only a statement of your conclusions, you will receive little or no 
credit. State fully the reasons that support your conclusions and discuss all points 
thoroughly. 

Your answer should be complete, but you should not volunteer information or discuss 
legal doctrines that are not pertinent to the solution of the problem.  

Unless a question expressly asks you to use California law, you should answer 
according to legal theories and principles of general application. 

 

 

 



 

QUESTION 1 
 
 

Jim and Fred armed themselves with handguns and drove to a store on Avon Street. They 
both went into the store, drew their guns, and demanded that Salma, an employee, give 
them the store’s money. After Salma handed Jim the money, he nervously dropped his 
gun. The gun discharged when it hit the floor, and the bullet hit and killed Chris, a store 
customer. Salma then got a shotgun from under the counter and shot Fred, killing him. 
Jim picked up his gun, ran out of the store, and drove back to his apartment. 
 
Later that evening, Jim saw Salma while walking down Park Street. Thinking that he could 
eliminate her as a witness, Jim shot at Salma with his gun, but the bullet missed her. Jim 
then drove away in his car. 
 
A few minutes later, Police Officer Bakari saw Jim driving down the street. Officer Bakari, 
who had no knowledge of the events at the store or on Park Street, pulled Jim over 
because Jim looked nervous. When Jim got out of his car, Officer Bakari noticed a bulge 
under his shirt. Officer Bakari then patted Jim down and found Jim’s gun. Officer Bakari 
arrested Jim for possession of a concealed firearm and seized the gun. 
 

1. With what crime(s) could Jim reasonably be charged regarding the events at the 
store? Discuss. 

 
2. With what crime(s) could Jim reasonably be charged regarding the incident on 

Park Street? Discuss. 
 
3. Under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution, can Jim 

successfully move to suppress Jim’s gun from being introduced into evidence at 
trial? Discuss. 

 



 

QUESTION 1: SELECTED ANSWER A 
 
 

1. Jim's crimes at the store 

Conspiracy 

A conspiracy is an agreement between two or more people to commit a crime. A 

conspiracy requires 1) an intent to enter into an agreement, 2) an intent to agree, and 3) 

an intent to carry out the target offense. Most modern jurisdiction also require an overt 

act which sets the conspiracy in motion. A conspiracy punishes the agreement. 

However, a conspirator will be liable for not only the target offense, but for all 

substantive crimes that are the natural and foreseeable consequences of the target 

offense (Pinkerton rule).  

Here, Jim(J) will likely be found guilty of a conspiracy with Fred(F) to rob the store. 1) J 

and F "Armed themselves" with guns and drove to the store. This act of supplying a 

dangerous weapon, coupled with driving to the store is circumstantial evidence of J and 

F's intent to enter into an agreement to rob the store. Thus, they intended to enter into 

an agreement to commit a crime. 2) They both armed themselves and endeavored on 

this venture together. This further indicates that they intended to agree with one 

another to fulfill their intent. 3) Finally, the fact that they grabbed weapons and drove to 

the store evidences an intent to commit the underlying offense of robbery (there is no 

other logical reason for driving to s tore with likely illegal weapons other than for the 

purpose of committing some crime). Further, the act of driving to the store will amount to 

an overt act which set this conspiracy in motion. 

Therefore, J will likely be charged with conspiracy and will be culpable not only for the 

underlying offense, but for all crimes which were the reasonable and foreseeable 



 

consequences of committing a robbery.  

Assault 

Assault is either 1) a failed battery (a non-consensual offensive touching), or 2) an intent 

to cause imminent apprehension in another of an imminent battery.  

In this case, J will also likely be guilty of assault because by drawing his gun and 

pointing it at Salma (S) and demanding that she give him the money, he intended to put 

S is apprehension that if she did not comply, she might be shot (which would certainly 

amount to an offensive, non-consensual touching). 

Therefore, J committed an assault. 

Larceny 

Larceny is the 1) trespassory (without consent), 2) taking, and 3) carrying away (the 

slightest movement is sufficient) of 4) the personal property or 5) another with 6) the 

intent to permanently deprive that person of their property.  

Here, J also committed a larceny because 1) S did not give voluntary consent when she 

gave J the money (rather, she was under threat of possible death if she did not), 

therefore making it trespassory, 2) he took the money when S handed it to him, 3) J 

carried it away when he "ran out of the store," 4) the property was cash (and therefore 

personal property), which 5) belonged to the store, not Jim, and 6) J intended to 

permanently deprive the store of this money because he obtained it by force and ran 

away. Clearly, he had no intention of returning it.  

Therefore, J committed a larceny.  

Robbery 

Robbery is essentially an assault plus larceny. It is the 1) taking of 2) the personal 



 

property 3) from a person's presence, 4) by force of threat of force, 5) with the intent to 

permanently deprive that person of their property. 

Here, J committed an assault and a larceny and thus also committed a robbery. He 1) 

took 2) the cash 3) from S, who was in charge of safeguarding it, 4) by threat of force by 

drawing his handgun and making S believe that she may be shot if she did not comply, 

and 5) intended to permanently deprive the store of its property because he had no 

intention of returning it.  

Therefore, J also committed a robbery.  

Burglary 

At common law, burglary was the 1) breaking and 2) entering of 3) the dwelling house 

4) of another 5) in the nighttime 6) with the intent to commit a felony therein. However, 

many jurisdictions have eliminated the breaking and nighttime requirements and 

expanded "dwelling house" to include a multitude of enclosed structures.  

Here, J and F did go into the store with the intent to commit a crime. However, there 

was no "breaking" because they went during store hours and thus had permission to be 

on the premises.  

Thus, there was no burglary.  

Murder (Chris) 

Common Law Murder 

At common law, murder was the killing of one human being by another human being 

with malice aforethought. The intent to kill--malice--can take several forms: 1) the intent 

to kill (express malice), 2) killing with reckless indifference to human life (depraved heart 

murder), 3) intent to cause great bodily injury (GBI), or 4) felony murder.  



 

1. Express Malice 

Express malice requires the intent to kill. 

Here, J "nervously dropped his gun" and it accidentally discharged. Therefore, J did not 

intend to kill Chris.  

2. Depraved Heart 

Depraved heart murder is a killing with a reckless indifference to an unjustifiably high 

risk to human life. 

Here, J did not kill Chris with indifference to a high risk to human life because he 

dropped his gun. He did not know the gun was discharge and it was completely 

accidental. Therefore, he probably cannot be convicted of depraved heart murder.  

3. Intent to Cause GBI 

Malice can be inferred from the intent to cause GBI. 

Again, J accidentally dropped his gun and did not intent to harm Chris and thus did not 

intent to commit GBI. This type of malice thus does not apply.  

4. Felony Murder 

Under the felony murder doctrine, malice is implied from the intent to kill the underlying 

felony. However, many jurisdictions have adopted the Redline theory, which states that 

a co-felon cannot be guilty of felony murder for the killing of another co-felon 

during the commission of the felony by a third party. 

Here, J intended to commit a robbery, as discussed above. In all jurisdictions, a robbery 

is a felony. Therefore, J can be found guilty of felony murder for any killing that occurs 

during the commission of the robbery. Chris was a store customer, not a co-felon, so 

the Redline theory would not bar J from being convicted.  



 

Therefore, J can be found guilty of felony murder of Chris.  

First Degree Murder 

First degree murder is statutory in nature and most jurisdictions have held that it 

encompasses 1) premeditated and deliberate murder or 2) felony murder during certain 

inherently dangerous enumerated felonies (including burglary, rape, arson, robbery, and 

kidnapping).  

1. Premeditation and deliberation 

As stated above, the killing of Chris was accidental, so it was not premeditated or 

deliberate.  

2. Felony Murder 

Here, the killing occurred during the commission of a robbery--a first degree felony 

murder offense.  

Therefore, J will likely be found guilty of first-degree murder.  

Second Degree Murder 

Second degree murder includes all murders not in the first degree. 

Here, J will not be guilty of second-degree murder because he can be found guilty of 

first-degree murder.  

Murder (Fred) 

See rule above.  

1. Express Malice 

Here, S shot F. Therefore, J did not have intent to kill F.  

2. Depraved Heart 

Again, because S is the one show shot F, J would not have killed F with a depraved 



 

heart.  

3. Intent to Cause GBI 

J did not intent to cause F GBI because he is not the one who shot him.  

4. Felony Murder 

Here, the state will argue that J is guilty of felony murder to F because it was a killing 

during the commission of a felony. However, if this jurisdiction has adopted the Redline 

theory, then J cannot be found guilty of murder of F because a third party---S--killed a 

co-felon.  

Therefore, assuming the jurisdiction has adopted the Redline theory, J will not be guilty 

of murder of F.  

First Degree Murder 

See rule above. 

1. Premeditation and deliberation 

This was not a premeditated or deliberate murder because J did not plan to kill F.  

2. Felony Murder 

This was a killing during the commission of an inherently dangerous felony. However, 

assuming this jurisdiction has adopted the Redline theory, J cannot be found guilty of 

murder of F.  

Second Degree Murder 

See rule above. 

This is inapplicable because J did not intent to kill F.  

2. Jim's crimes on Park Street 

Attempted Murder (Salma) 



 

Attempt is a specific intent crime which requires 1) the specific intent to commit the 

underlying offense and 2) a substantial step toward the commission of that offense (the 

substantial step element requires that the crime come dangerous close to commission).  

Here, J will likely be found guilty of attempted murder of S because 1) he thought he 

could "eliminate her as a witness" and drew his gun at her, thereby evidencing his intent 

to kill S so that she could not testify against him. 2) There was a substantial step toward 

the crime because J actually "shot" and fired his gun at S. 

Therefore, J will be guilty of attempted murder of S.  

Assault 

See rule above. 

J will also be guilty of assault because he attempted to shoot S (which would be a 

harmful or offensive touching, i.e., a batter), but he missed her.  

Therefore, this was a failed battery and thus an assault.  

3. 4th Amendment Claim 

4th Amendment 

The 4th Amendment protects against unreasonable searches and seizures. A search 

without a warrant is per se unreasonable unless there is an exception to the warrant 

requirement.  

Here, J was subject to a stop by the police when he was pulled over and this he was 

searched without a warrant. Therefore, this stop and seizure is per se unreasonable, 

and thus a violation of J's 4th Amendment rights, unless there is an exception.  

Government Conduct 

The 4th Amendment only protects individuals from governmental conduct--it does not 



 

govern purely private behavior. 

Here, J was pulled over by a police officer--a government employee. Therefore, this 

element is met.  

Search/Reasonable Expectation of Privacy 

A search is a governmental intrusion into an area where a person has a subjective 

expectation of privacy that society is willing to regard as reasonable, or a search into a 

constitutionally protected area. In order to assert a reasonable expectation of privacy, 

and thus have standing to make a 4th Amendment claim, the person must have had an 

ownership or possessory interest in the place searched or item seized.  

Here, J has standing to object to the search because he was pulled over in his car 

which he presumably owned, and thus had a reasonable expectation of privacy in his 

vehicle (although the courts have held that there is a diminished expectation of privacy 

in one's vehicle, there is nonetheless some expectation of privacy). Furthermore, J's 

person was searched during a pat-down and the police officer took an item of personal 

property from him. 

Thus, J has standing.  

Warrantless Search 

As stated above, warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable without a 

warrant expectation. 

Here, the stop and seizure were without a warrant and is per se unreasonable unless 

there is an exception. 

Vehicle Stops: Reasonable Suspicion 

A police officer may pull over a vehicle if they have reasonable suspicion, supported by 



 

articulable facts, that criminal activity is afoot. Whether an officer has reasonable 

suspicion will be determined based on the totality of the circumstances, although the 

courts have held that it requires more than a mere hunch.  

Here, the officer stopped J because he "looked nervous." The officer had no knowledge 

of any of the preceding events and thus no basis to believe that criminal activity was 

afoot. A person "looking nervous" is not enough for reasonable suspicion. There must 

be facts which support the officer's basis for concluding that some criminal activity is 

happening.  

In this case, J's mere "nervousness" likely did not amount to reasonable suspicion such 

that the stop was unreasonable and thus a violation of J's 4th Amendment rights. 

However, assuming the stop was not unreasonable, the state must further prove that 

the officer had grounds to search J. 

Warrant Exception: Terry Stop and Frisk 

A stop and frisk, or Terry stop, permits an officer to stop a person whenever they have 

reasonable suspicion, based on articulable facts, that criminal activity is afoot. If the 

officer also believes that the person is armed and dangerous, then the officer can 

conduct a pat-down of their outer clothing in order to search for weapons.  

Here, if the officer had reasonable suspicion for the stop, then the frisk was likely a 

permissible Terry frisk because the officer noticed a bulge under J's search. Based on 

his experience, the officer likely had justifiable grounds for believing that "bulge" could 

be a weapon, thereby supporting his basis for patting J down. 

So long as the court finds that the stop was supported by reasonable suspicion, then 

the pat-down and seizure of the gun will also be permissible.  



 

Exclusionary Rule/Fruit of the Poisonous Tree 

The exclusionary rule is a judge-made doctrine that states that any evidence obtained in 

violation of a person's 4th, 5th, or 6th Amendment rights is inadmissible (subject to a 

few exceptions not applicable here). Under the fruit of the poisonous tree doctrine, all 

secondary evidence obtained as a result of an unlawful search will also be excluded.  

Here, it is more than likely that the stop of J when the officer pulled him over was 

unreasonable because it was not supported by reasonable suspicion. Therefore, any 

evidence obtained as a result of the unlawful search, such as the gun, will also be 

inadmissible as fruit of the poisonous tree.  

Conclusion 

Because J was stopped in violation of his 4th Amendment rights, J can successfully 

move to suppress the gun from being introduced at trial.  



 

QUESTION 1: SELECTED ANSWER B 
 
 

(I) Events at the Store 

Jim could be charged with first- or second-degree murder depending on how a 

jurisdiction codifies those crimes. He can also be charged with robbery and conspiracy 

to commit robbery. 

Robbery 

J committed the crime of robbery. A robbery is the taking of property of another with 

force. Here, J took property of another, i.e., the cash of the store from the store whose 

property it was. J also used force to take that property. Specifically, he brandished his 

firearm, threatening the use of force if Salma the store employee did not comply. Thus, 

J committed the offense of robbery. 

Murder 

J committed the crime of murder. He could be found guilty of felony murder (which could 

be first- or second-degree murder depending on the jurisdiction) or involuntary 

manslaughter. 

A. First degree murder is generally codified as one of two things (a) premeditated, 

calculated murder that occurs in a calm, dispassionate manner or (b) felony murder.   

(a) Premeditated murder. Here, Jim (J) and Fred (F) armed themselves with handguns 

and drove to a store on Avon Street. They both went into the store with their guns drawn 

and demanded that the store employee Salma (S) give them money. It does not appear 

that J and F's intent was to murder anyone, nor did they premeditate committing a 

murder; rather, they were only interested in obtaining the money from the store. J only 

killed C when he nervously dropped his gun, and the gun fired a bullet. And F was killed 



 

only when S shot him. Thus, J cannot be convicted of first-degree premeditated murder 

as he did not premeditate either of those deaths. 

(b) Felony murder. Some jurisdictions codify felony murders as first-degree murder. If 

the state where J and F committed this offense is one of those states, then J could be 

found guilty of first-degree murder. Felony murder is found when a murder occurs 

during the commission of certain violent felonies, including burglary, kidnapping, 

robbery, assault, and rape. This is because the commission of these felonies is 

dangerous on their own, and it is foreseeable that a death could occur in their 

commission. To find felony murder, it must be first established that one of these 

underlying crimes occurred. Here, as discussed above, J intended to commit a robbery 

and did do so. Thus, the deaths that occurred can be considered under the felony 

murder rule. 

Here, two deaths occurred--those of C and F--which we will discuss in turn. First, as to 

C's death, C was killed when J nervously dropped his gun and when S was handing J 

the money he demanded. C's death was not really in furtherance of the commission of 

the crime--J was already getting the money handed to him and probably would have left 

after that. And J and F did not point the gun at C or ask C for his money or except C to 

hand them over the store's money. Nonetheless, it was a reasonably foreseeable 

consequence of the robbery, given how J and F chose to commit the robbery. J and F 

both brandished firearms at S. Because they have it pointed at someone and clearly 

there is no safety on, it is reasonably foreseeable that they would use the firearms in the 

commission of the offense or even that a firearm may accidentally discharge, harming 

someone. Thus, J could be found guilty of C's death under the felony murder rule. 



 

As to F's death, there are two theories as to whether J would be liable for it. Under the 

majority theory, a defendant is not liable of a co-conspirator's death by a third party 

(such as a victim of the offense, here S). This theory believes that F's death is not 

foreseeable, since a third party took independent action and caused the death. 

However, under the minority theory, such an action is foreseeable since the defendant 

was already involved in such a dangerous offense and any resulting death is 

foreseeable. Thus, under the minority theory, J would be held liable, but J would not be 

held liable under the majority view. Accordingly, depending on whether the jurisdiction 

follows the majority or minority rule, J could also be found liable for F's death. 

B. Second degree murder is the codification of common law murder. Common law 

murder has four variations: (a) a malicious intent to murder another (b) a malicious 

intent to cause substantial bodily harm (c) a disregard for human life, and (d) murder 

while committing a dangerous offense (i.e., felony murder). 

(a) malicious intent to murder another. It does not appear that J had any intent to 

murder C. J dropped his firearm and it accidentally discharged. The firearm was not 

even pointed towards C when he did have it brandished. Thus, J would not be found 

guilty of second-degree murder under this theory. 

(b) malicious intent to cause substantial bodily harm. Again, it does not appear that J 

had any intent to murder C. J dropped his firearm and it accidentally discharged. The 

firearm was not even pointed towards C when he did have it brandished. Thus, J would 

not be found guilty of second-degree murder under this theory. 

(c) disregard for human life. Again, it does not appear that J had any intent to murder C. 

J dropped his firearm and it accidentally discharged. The firearm was not even pointed 



 

towards C when he did have it brandished. Thus, J would not be found guilty of second-

degree murder under this theory. 

(d) felony murder. As noted above, J could be found guilty of felony murder of C. And 

depending on the rules of the jurisdiction, he could also be found guilty of murder of F 

under this theory. 

C. Voluntary Manslaughter. Voluntary manslaughter is the codification of murders 

committed while the defendant is still under the stress of an event. These murders are 

often described as heat of the passion murders. The prototypical example is when a 

husband walks in on his cheating spouse and immediately murders the spouse and/or 

spouse's lover. Here, the murder of F and C did not occur while J was under the stress 

of any event--the robbery was a pre-planned event between J and F. Thus, J could not 

be charged with voluntary manslaughter. 

D. Involuntary Manslaughter. Involuntary manslaughter can be thought of as criminal 

negligence. This charge is generally used to charge drunk drivers when they murder 

someone. Here, it is possible that J could be convicted of involuntary manslaughter. 

Here, J, in holding the firearm, had a duty to take the precautions that someone holding 

a firearm should, i.e., hold it steady, don't drop it, keep the safety on until you are ready 

to discharge. J did none of those things. He did not have the safety on, he did not hold 

the firearm steadily, thus breaching his duty of care when he dropped it and it 

discharged. And his dropping of the firearm caused the death of C--but for him dropping 

it, C would still be alive. Thus, J could be charged under this theory as well for the death 

of C. 

 



 

Conspiracy 

Also, J could be charged with a conspiracy. A conspiracy is an agreement between 2 or 

more persons for a criminal purpose to act in furtherance of that criminal purpose. The 

modern jurisprudence also requires the commission of an overt act in furtherance of a 

conspiracy. Under the modern jurisprudence, the crime is committed once an overt act 

has occurred, and the defendants can no longer withdraw from the conspiracy at that 

point. Here, although there is no written agreement between the J and F (and a written 

agreement is not required but would help if you're prosecuting these types of crimes), J 

and F are clearly in agreement that they were going to rob the store. J and F, prepared 

with guns, armed themselves with firearms and both drew their guns at the store clerk 

and demanded money. Here, their actions clearly demonstrate they were acting in 

concert with one another towards to the same agreed upon goal--the commission of a 

robbery. They have also clearly committed an overt act, in furtherance of their criminal 

purpose--they drew their guns and demanded money from the store employee S. Upon 

completion of the overt act, the crime of conspiracy is completed, and neither could 

withdraw from the conspiracy. 

2. Incident at Park Street. 

Here, J could be charged for attempt 1st degree or 2nd degree murder. To be convicted 

of an attempt, a defendant must have the intent to commit a specific offense and take a 

substantial step in furtherance of that crime. The substantial step need not be criminal in 

nature, but it must be in furtherance of the offense (i.e., it takes defendant one step 

closer) and cannot simply be planning or preparation.  

Here, J had the intent to commit 1st or 2nd degree murder. Specifically, he had the 



 

intent to commit a premeditated murder (1st degree) or intent to maliciously murder 

another or cause substantial bodily injury (2nd degree). As to the premeditated murder, 

premeditation does not need to be a long-drawn out plan. Premeditation can occur 

instantly so long as defendant has sufficient time to intend to murder before attempting 

to do so. Here, upon seeing S, J believed that he should murder her to eliminate her as 

a witness to his robbery and other offenses. J had enough time to come to a decision to 

murder S in a cool, dispassionate matter. Alternatively, if J did not form the requisite 

intent and did not have time to premeditate, he could alternatively be charged with 

murder in the 2nd degree. As discussed above, murder in the second degree includes a 

malicious intent to kill or to cause substantial bodily harm. J clearly had both of those 

intents as he hoped to eliminate S as a witness by killing her. Thus, alternatively, if he 

did not have time to come to a cool dispassionate decision to murder S while he was 

driving past her, he did have the requisite intent to commit a second-degree murder. 

In addition, Jim took a substantial step towards his offense--he actually fired his gun at 

S hoping to kill her. Even though the bullet missed her and the substantive, underlying 

crime (murder) was not completed, J completed the crime of attempt when he took this 

substantial step. 

Accordingly, J can be found guilty of attempt murder. 

3. Suppression of the Gun 

The Fourth Amendment protects against unreasonable searches and seizures. To 

trigger the protections of the Fourth Amendment, the search/seizure must have been 

done by a government actor. Here, the search and seizure were done by Officer Bakari 

(Off B), who works for some type of government entity (either local, state, or federal 



 

police department). And the search that was done was of Jim's person, thus Jim has 

standing to challenge the seizure of the firearm. 

An unreasonable search/seizure is one that is done where an individual has a 

reasonable expectation of privacy. Those areas include an individual's person and their 

home. An individual has a lessor privacy interest in their vehicle. 

Here, Off B pulled over J because J looked nervous. Off J had no knowledge of the 

events at the store or on Park Street. Off B just stopped J because J looked nervous. 

An officer can stop an individual for a reasonable period based on reasonable suspicion 

that that individual committed a crime. The officer must be able to point to specific 

articulable facts justifying the reasonable suspicion/stop. Notably, a stop can be 

pretextual (see Whren), but there still must be reasonable suspicion for the stop. Here, 

at a suppression hearing, Off B would testify simply that J looked nervous. That is not 

sufficient to justify the stop, because nervousness, on its own, does not suggest any 

evidence of criminal activity. It is totally possible that J is simply a nervous driver. 

Accordingly, the stop was in violation of the 4th Amendment. Any evidence that is found 

in violation of an illegal stop must be suppressed in accordance with the fruit of the 

poisonous tree doctrine. And accordingly, the firearm would be suppressed. (Also, note 

that there are no facts that would suggest that the firearm would be found in the normal 

course in the investigation, negating any exception such as inevitable discovery or 

collateral source doctrine). 

Assuming arguendo that the stop was legal, Off B then did a pat down search of J. It 

should be first noted that an officer may ask an individual to exit their car during a lawful 

search. Searches generally need to be done in accordance with a search warrant; 



 

however, there are exceptions to the warrant requirement, including but not limited to a 

search incident to arrest, exigent circumstances, Terry search, automobile exception, 

and administrative searches. Here, J was not under arrest at this time, there were no 

exigent circumstances justifying the search, and there was no administrative search. Off 

B could try to justify his search under the automobile exception. An individual has a 

lessor privacy interest in his/her vehicle because vehicles are so regulated. However, to 

search a vehicle after a lawful traffic stop, an officer must have probable cause that he 

will find evidence of an offense. (This most commonly occurs when the officer, after a 

stop, smells drug use or sees drugs/alcohol in plain view). Because Off B did not know 

of the previous crimes and was only stopping J because he looked nervous, Off B did 

not have PC that a crime had occurred and could not justify his search. Off B then could 

alternative try to justify his search as a Terry frisk. A Terry frisk is not a search for 

evidence of a crime, but a safety pat down to ensure that an individual is not dangerous. 

TO justify a Terry frisk, the officer must have reasonable suspicion that a defendant is 

dangerous or trying to flee. Here, Off B would testify that J looked nervous and that he 

had a visible bulge. There are no facts to suggest that the bulge was in the shape of a 

firearm or other weapon, however. Also, J looked nervous prior to the stop. Thus, a 

likely result is that the Terry frisk will be deemed a search without reasonable suspicion 

and thus found in violation of the 4th Amendment. Thus, the search of J's person was in 

violation of the 4th Amendment as no exceptions to the warrant requirement apply. 

Accordingly, because the stop and the search were both in violation of the 4th 

Amendment, the firearm will likely be suppressed. 



 

QUESTION 2 
 

 
Harry had premarital savings of $10,000 in a bank account when he married Winona in 
California in 2015. After the wedding, Harry started working at a new job and deposited 
his $3,000 salary check into the account. Shortly afterward, he paid $2,000 for rent and 
$2,000 for living expenses with checks drawn on the account. He then bought $1,000 in 
Acme stock in his own name with another check drawn on the account. The Acme stock 
increased in value over time.    
 
During the marriage, Winona purchased disability insurance out of her salary. She later 
became disabled and could no longer work. As a result, she became entitled to monthly 
disability insurance payments, which will continue until she reaches the age of 65.     
 
Thereafter, Harry and Winona decided to live separately, but to go to counseling with the 
hope of reconciling. After Harry moved out of the family home, he used his earnings to 
gamble at a local casino, winning a large amount of money with which he opened an 
investment account in his own name. Harry did not tell Winona about his winnings or 
investment account because she did not approve of gambling.  
 
Subsequently, after a period of counseling, Harry and Winona concluded that they would 
not reconcile and Harry filed for dissolution. A few days later, Harry took out a loan to pay 
for a sailboat, hoping that sailing would relieve the stress of the divorce. 
 
What are Harry’s and Winona’s rights and liabilities regarding: 
 

1. The Acme stock? Discuss. 
 

2. Winona’s post-separation disability insurance payments? Discuss. 
 

3. The investment account? Discuss. 
 

4. The loan for the sailboat? Discuss. 
 
Answer according to California law. 



 

QUESTION 2: SELECTED ANSWER A 
 
 
INTRODUCTION 

California is a community property state. The marital community begins upon the 

formation of a valid marriage and terminates upon permanent separation, divorce, or 

death of a spouse. During marriage, all earnings and income of both spouses, and all 

property acquired by either spouse during the marriage with community funds, are part 

of the marital community and are considered to be community property ("CP"). All 

income and property owned by either spouse from before marriage, as well as earnings 

through inheritance, gift, or bequest during marriage, are separate property ("SP") of the 

recipient spouse. All debts and liabilities of both spouses from before and during the 

marriage are generally presumed to be CP. All debts and liabilities of each spouse after 

permanent separation or dissolution are generally SP.  

1. ACME STOCK 

Presumption--CP 

All property acquired by either spouse during the existence of a valid marriage is 

generally presumed to be CP. In this case, Harry acquired the Acme stock after the 

formation of the marital community. Thus, the stock will generally be presumed to be 

CP, although Harry will try to rebut this presumption.  

Action: Titling Stock in Harry's Name Alone/Transmutation 

If property is acquired as community property, the action of titling the property in one 

spouse's name alone will not suffice to change the nature of the property. Since 1984, in 

order to change the nature of acquired property from community property to separate 

property, there must be an express writing by the adversely affected spouse assenting 



 

to the change in nature of the property. 

In this case, Harry may attempt to argue that the Acme stock is his separate property 

because it is titled in his name alone. However, that alone is not sufficient to change the 

nature of the property. Moreover, the facts do not indicate that there is any writing by 

Winona acknowledging the nature of the change in status of the stock, or that she even 

knew about the existence of the stock. As such, Harry's titling the property in his name 

will not suffice to rebut the presumption of it being community property, without more.  

Source: Harry's Bank Account 

Harry will argue that the stock is his separate property because the purchase was 

conducted via a bank account that contains his premarital savings of $10,000. Savings 

from before marriage are Harry's SP. However, the facts also indicate that following the 

marriage, Harry deposited $3,000 of his salary into the account. All wages and salaries 

earned by both spouses during the marriage are for the benefit of the community and 

are community property. Thus, because Harry commingled community property and 

separate property in his bank account, he may attempt to rebut the presumption of 

community property through tracing.  

Tracing 

When separate property and community property are commingled, a spouse may 

establish that the source of funds was separate property through tracing.  

Direct Tracing 

A spouse may trace the source of funds to separate property by directly linking a 

deposit of separate property to a purchase, so long as the spouse had intent to 

purchase the property as separate property. 



 

In this case, Harry had deposited $3,000 of CP into the account before making the 

$1,000 purchase of stock. All of the other deposits seem to have been made prior to the 

marriage. Thus, Harry will be unable to directly trace the source of the funds to SP. 

Moreover, the facts are unclear as to whether Harry intended the stock to be SP when 

he purchased it. He placed the stock in his own name, but without more, he probably 

cannot establish intent to keep the stock as SP.  

Exhaustion  

Alternatively, a spouse may establish that any CP funds in a commingled account were 

exhausted prior to the purchase of purported SP. 

In this case, Harry deposited $3,000 of CP into the bank account. He then paid $2,000 

for rent and $2,000 for living expenses. Rent and living expenses of spouses during the 

marriage are CP. When a commingled account is used to pay for CP liabilities, it is 

presumed that CP funds are withdrawn first, followed by the spouse's SP. Because the 

total of CP costs withdrawn from the account are $4,000, which exceeds the CP deposit 

of $3,000, Harry will be able to establish that the CP funds in his bank account were 

exhausted prior to the purchase of the stock, and that the source of the funds can be 

adequately traced to Harry's pre-marriage SP savings.  

Distribution 

The Acme stock is Harry's SP, because the CP funds in the account were exhausted 

before he purchased the stock, and he will be able to establish the source of the funds 

for the stock as his SP savings. As such, the stock, along with the increase in value that 

occurred during the existence of the marriage, will be assigned to Harry upon divorce.  

 



 

2. WINONA'S POST-SEPARATION DISABILITY PAYMENTS 

Disability Insurance--Presumed CP 

The disability insurance was purchased by W during the existence of the marriage. 

Moreover, the source of the payment of the insurance policy was W's salary, which is 

CP. Thus, the insurance policy qualifies as CP.  

Disability Payments 

When a spouse receives disability or other payments, the court will first look to whether 

the payments are intended to compensate for past work or to replace future earnings. In 

this case, W purchased the insurance policy during the marriage with CP, as discussed 

above. The facts indicate that the disability payments will continue until W is 65 years 

old. Thus, it appears that the disability payments are meant to replace future earnings, 

rather than compensate for past earnings. As such, all payments received by W prior to 

permanent separation are CP, as they acted as a replacement for W's earnings during 

the existence of the marriage.  

When did separation occur?  

Since 2017, permanent separation occurs in California when one spouse indicates 

intent to permanently end the marriage, and that spouse's behavior is consistent with 

that intent. Living separately is not required but will be considered when examining the 

intent and behavior of the spouses.  

In this case, the facts indicate that H and W decided to live separately but continued to 

go to counseling in the hopes of reconciling. After a period of counseling, H filed for 

dissolution after deciding that they could not reconcile. Even though the spouses were 

living separately, they were attempting to reconcile. As such, it cannot be said that 



 

either spouse had intent to permanently end the marriage at that point. However, at a 

later point, W and H decided that they could not reconcile, and H then filed for 

dissolution. Because H's filing for dissolution is consistent with his intent to permanently 

end the marriage, the court will determine that permanent separation occurred at that 

point. Prior to H filing for dissolution, permanent separation had not occurred, even 

though the spouses were living separately.  

Disability Payments Post-Separation 

When disability payments that replace future earnings are received by a spouse after 

permanent separation, those payments are that spouse's SP. In this case, W will 

continue receiving disability payments until she is 65. The payments she receives after 

dissolution will replace earnings that she would have acquired through labor. All 

payments received after H filed for dissolution will be considered to be W's SP.  

Distribution 

All of W's disability payments prior to H filing for dissolution are CP and will be assigned 

to the marital estate. All payments received after H filed for dissolution are W's SP and 

will be assigned to her. 

3. INVESTMENT ACCOUNT 

Presumption=CP 

As discussed above, the marital community did not end, and permanent separation did 

not occur, until H filed for dissolution. H may argue that the parties were separated and 

that the account is his SP. However, the purchase of the investment account occurred 

during the existence of the marriage because the spouses were attempting to reconcile 

at that point. As such, it is presumed to be CP. 



 

Action: Titling Account in Own Name/Transmutation 

See rule above. The fact that H titled the investment account in his name alone is not by 

itself sufficient to change the nature of the account. Moreover, the facts do not indicate 

that there is any writing by W acknowledging the change in character of the property, or 

that she knew about the account at all. Rather, the facts indicate that H did not tell W 

about the account because she did not approve of gambling. Thus, H will need to 

provide more facts in order to establish a change in the nature of the account.  

Breach of Fiduciary Duty  

Spouses are considered to be fiduciaries of each other and owe each other the highest 

duties of good faith and loyalty. When a spouse breaches his fiduciary duty, a court may 

take that into account when distributing community property and may assign the non-

breaching spouse a higher share of the CP or take other action consistent with 

remedying the breach. 

In this case, the facts indicate that H won a large amount of money gambling at a 

casino. Because W does not approve of gambling, H declined to tell her about the 

winnings and instead opened an investment account in his own name. The court will 

likely find that this action constituted a breach of H's fiduciary duty to W. H had a duty to 

keep W apprised of his financial status, and not to take actions in order to disadvantage 

W. When H opened the account without telling W, he was presumably attempting to 

hide earnings from W in order to benefit himself in a possible future divorce. This is a 

clear breach of fiduciary duty.  

Distribution 

Because the investment account was purchased during the existence of the marriage 



 

and there are no facts indicating that a valid transmutation occurred, the account is CP 

and will be divided equally between the spouses upon divorce. However, because H 

breached his fiduciary duty to W by refusing to tell her about the account and attempting 

to hide its existence from her, the court may determine that W is entitled to a larger 

share of CP.  

4. LOAN FOR THE SAILBOAT  

Debts 

All debts and liabilities of both spouses before and during the existence of the marriage 

are CP. All debts and liabilities by spouses after divorce or permanent separation are 

that spouse's SP. An exception exists if the debt or liability is for necessaries of life, 

such as food or medical expenses.  

End of Marital Community  

See discussion above. Although H and W started living separately prior to H filing for 

dissolution, the court will determine that the marital community did not end until H filed 

for dissolution, because prior to that point the spouses were attempting to reconcile.  

Action: Acquiring the Loan After Filing for Dissolution 

Debts acquired by both spouses after permanent separation or dissolution are SP of the 

debtor spouse. In this case, the facts indicate that H took out the sailboat loan a few 

days after filing for divorce. Even though the marriage had not been formally dissolved 

at that point, the fact that H and W had decided that they could not reconcile, and that H 

had filed for dissolution indicates that permanent separation had occurred. Thus, the 

loan will be assigned to Harry as his SP.  

 



 

Liability of H's SP for Loan  

Because the loan is H's SP, his SP will be liable for payment of the loan.  

Liability of CP for Loan  

If a loan is acquired by a spouse following permanent separation, the loan will be the 

debtor spouse's SP, and the CP will not be liable for the debt. An exception exists for 

necessaries of life, for which CP may be liable even following permanent separation. H 

may attempt to argue that the sailboat loan qualifies as a necessary, because it helped 

him to cope with the stress of the divorce. However, the court will not accept that 

argument, as the loan was not necessary to sustain H's health or life.  

Liability of W's SP for Loan  

If a debt acquired after separation may be satisfied from CP, the non-debtor spouse's 

SP may also be reached if all other funds are exhausted. The non-debtor spouse may 

protect their SP from liability by keeping their money in a bank account titled in their 

name alone and to which the debtor spouse does not have access. 

In this case, as discussed above, the CP is not liable for H's sailboat loan, because it 

was acquired after separation and is not a necessary of life. As such, W's SP will also 

be protected from liability for the loan.  

Distribution 

The loan is H's SP and will be satisfied from his SP funds.  



 

QUESTION 2: SELECTED ANSWER B 
 
 

Community Property Essay 

California is a community property state. This means that the marital economic 

community begins at marriage and ends at divorce, or permanent separation, or the 

death of a spouse. All earnings made during a valid marriage are considered community 

property (CP), and all things purchased with those earnings are also considered CP. 

Property acquired before marriage or after divorce or permanent separation is 

presumed separate property (SP). Additionally, all property acquired during marriage by 

either gift or inheritance are considered SP. 

Valid Marriage 

In California, a valid marriage requires (1) consent, (2) capacity, and (3) legal 

formalities. Here, the facts simply state that Harry (H) and Winona (W) were married in 

California in 2015. Therefore, it is presumed they had a valid marriage that began in 

2015. 

Permanent Separation 

Permanent separation ends the marital community. This occurs when one spouse (1) 

communicates to the other spouse a desire to end the marital community, and (2) 

conduct in conformity with that desire. Permanent physical separation is no longer 

required. Here, at some point, H and W decided to separate but continued to go to 

marital counseling before there was a final dissolution of the marriage. Although there 

was a physical separation between H and W when H moved out of the family home, the 

fact that both sought marriage counseling indicates that they wanted to work things out 

and there was no set intent on ending the marital community with conduct in conformity 



 

with that intent. Therefore, although H and W physically separated, it is unlikely that the 

marital community ended until there was a final dissolution. 

1. Acme Stock 

CP Presumption 

The general presumption is that all property acquired during a valid marriage is CP. This 

presumption can be rebutted by a preponderance of the evidence that the property 

acquired was traced from a separate property source or an agreement between the 

spouses to keep certain property separate.  

Here, the Acme stock was purchased after H and W were married. Therefore, the 

general presumption is that it is CP. 

Earnings 

A spouse's labor, skill, and effort are considered community assets and therefore, the 

earnings of a spouse during a valid marriage are CP, absent agreement between 

spouses to contrary. Here, Acme stock was purchased from funds in bank account that 

had H's earnings deposited into it, and those earnings were acquired during marriage. 

Therefore, account that purchased Acme stock had CP earnings in it. But H's account 

also had premarital savings of $10,000 which are H's SP. H will likely want to claim 

Acme stock as his own SP and must therefore rebut CP presumption by tracing the 

purchase of stocks to his SP. 

Tracing to SP 

CP presumption can be rebutted if spouse demonstrates that funds used to make 

purchase came from SP source. If this evidence is proffered, then spouse is entitled to 

refund of SP contribution but not any increase in the value of the property acquired with 



 

SP funds. 

 Here, H will want to argue that Acme stock is his SP. Since it was acquired during 

marriage, H must overcome CP presumption. Since H purchased stock from 

commingled account that had both CP and SP in it, H can only establish Acme stock as 

his SP if he can show direct tracing or exhaustion method. 

Direct Tracing 

Direct tracing requires that the spouse show that the funds used from commingled 

account to purchase property came from a SP deposit, and CP funds were not used. It 

is not enough for the spouse to show that the account had more SP funds than CP 

funds at time of purchase. Generally, a spouse can prove direct tracing by keeping 

conspicuous records of the deposits and credits of the account and their 

characterizations (CP or SP). With this information, the spouse must then show that he 

had the intent to make purchase with SP funds and the proof of the SP deposits and 

credits that demonstrate such SP funds were in fact used to make the purchase. 

Here, H had $10,000 SP funds in account and H also deposited CP earnings into same 

account. Facts are unclear as to whether H intended purchase of Acme stock to come 

from SP funds in account, and the facts are also silent as to H's accounting practices 

that would help corroborate that needed intent. For these reasons, it is unlikely that H 

can demonstrate direct tracing. 

Exhaustion Method 

The exhaustion method of tracing requires that the proponent spouse show that the 

commingled account was depleted of all CP funds at the time of the purchase, and the 

only remaining funds in the account to make the purchase were SP funds. It is 



 

presumed that family expenses are paid with CP funds first, and then SP funds. 

Here, account had $10,000 SP, then H deposited $3,000 salary check (CP), and 

thereafter withdrew $2000 for rent and $2,000 for living expenses. Since H and W lived 

in the family home prior to separation, the rent payment and living expenses payments 

are considered family expenses to be paid from CP funds first. Since CP funds in 

account only totaled $3,000 and the family expenses totaled $4,000, there was not 

enough CP in account to pay off those family expenses. Therefore, $1,000 of H's SP 

funds were used to pay the rest. After this payment, the account only had $9,000 left, 

which is considered H's SP. Thereafter, H made purchase of Acme stock. Since CP 

funds depleted from account at time of purchase, exhaustion method can be properly 

used here to help H prove that Acme stock was purchased with SP funds and therefore 

H is entitled to reimbursement for his SP contribution to the Acme purchase. 

Title 

A spouse placing title to property in his or her name alone does not change the 

character of the property without more, such as a valid transmutation. Therefore, the 

fact that H bought stock in his name alone is not determinative on this issue. 

Conclusion 

H can trace Acme purchase to SP funds using exhaustion method. Therefore, H is 

entitled to his $1,000 SP contribution for the purchase of that property but not any 

increase in value of the stock beyond that amount. The appreciation is considered CP. 

2. Post-Separation Disability Insurance Payment 

CP Presumption 

See above rule. Here, W purchased disability insurance during marriage. Therefore, it is 



 

presumed CP. 

Earnings 

See above rule. Here, the insurance was bought with W's earnings made during 

marriage, which makes the earnings CP, as well as the property purchased with those 

earnings (i.e., the insurance policy). 

Disability Insurance Payment 

Disability payments will generally be considered the disabled spouse's SP upon 

dissolution, but if the disability payments were, in part, given as a form of prior 

compensation, then the community is entitled to its proportionate share of the disability 

payments that reflects the compensation earned during marriage.  

Here, W purchased the disability insurance during marriage with CP earnings. 

Therefore, the community is entitled to an interest in the policy and the policy is 

generally considered CP until divorce. W became disabled while still married to H and 

began receiving disability payments. These payments made while H and W were still 

married will be considered CP. But after H and W dissolved their marriage, the court will 

likely find that it would be equitable for W to be entitled to most of the proceeds for the 

disability payments because she resultingly became disabled and likely needs the policy 

payments to replace her lost earnings. But the community will likely be entitled to any 

CP contributions made to acquire the policy (i.e., the premiums paid out of W's 

earnings). 

3. Investment Account 

CP Presumption 

See above rule. As noted above, although H and W physically separated in prior to their 



 

dissolution, since they both sought marriage counseling, it is likely that they would not 

be deemed to have permanently separated until the dissolution. Here, H acquired the 

gambling winnings used to fund the investment account after using his earnings made 

after separation. This would usually result in the investment account and the gambling 

winnings being considered SP because earnings after separation are SP as well as 

things purchased with SP earnings. But since there was no permanent separation at the 

point in time when H made those earnings (see above analysis) used to gain gambling 

winnings, the earnings were still CP and thus, the gambling winnings acquired from 

those earnings and the investment account funded with those winnings are also 

presumptively CP. 

Breach of Fiduciary Duties 

Spouses owe fiduciary duties to each other to act in the highest of good faith and fair 

dealings. Spouses must be loyal to each other, and each is entitled to a full account and 

disclosure of the community estate and in some instances, the other spouse's SP 

interests. It is a breach of a spouse's fiduciary duties to actively conceal property from 

the other in order to derive a secret profit from the property. This is a breach of the duty 

of loyalty. 

Here, H likely breached his fiduciary duty of loyalty to W when H did not disclose the 

fact that he used CP earnings to gamble and take a substantial amount of gambling 

winnings to open up an investment account in his name alone. As noted above, the 

investment account is presumptively CP, and therefore, W has an interest in the 

winnings and investment account. The fact that H did not disclose any of this to W may 

be found to be active concealment which could lead the court to punish H for such 



 

breach by depriving him of any interest in the investment account. 

Title 

See above rule. Here, although H titled the investment account in his name alone, this 

does not change the character of the account to SP. 

4. Loan for Sailboat 

Debts and Creditor Rights 

Generally, debts acquired before or during marriage, by either spouse are considered 

community debts. These community debts are first paid with CP and then the SP of the 

spouses. After permanent separation, debts acquired by either spouse are usually 

considered the separate debt of the debtor-spouse. While permanently separated but 

before divorce, the debts acquired by one spouse for necessities can result in the non-

debtor spouse's SP being reached to satisfy those debts for necessities during 

separation. 

SP Presumption 

See above rules. Here, H acquired a loan for a sailboat. This loan was acquired after H 

and W concluded counseling would not help their marriage and H filed for dissolution. 

Since this debt was acquired either after permanent separation or divorce, the loan is 

the SP debt of H, rather than it being a community debt. Therefore, the loan on the 

sailboat will be H's separate debt. 

Division of Community Estate 

At the end of the martial economic community, the community property is usually 

divided equally among the spouses. Each spouse is entitled to a 1/2 portion of the net 

community estate.   



 

QUESTION 3 
 
 

Thirty years ago, Diana built a large open-air theater to provide an outdoor multi-use 
entertainment venue. On weekdays, Diana rents the venue to the local dance companies. 
On weekend evenings, Diana hosts rock concerts at the theater. Revenue from the rock 
concerts funds most of the operating costs of the venue. The theater employs about 200 
people and has been a focus of the city’s cultural scene. When built, its location was near 
the edge of the city. As time went by, city development expanded to include housing in 
the vicinity of the theater. 
 
Pedro recently purchased a house in a subdivision located adjacent to the theater. 
Although Pedro knew about the theater when he bought his house, he thought that the 
new house was a perfect place to raise a family. 
 
As soon as Pedro moved into his new house, he was horrified by the noise and vibration 
coming from the theater during rock concerts. He could feel the floor shake and could not 
have a normal conversation because of the loud noise. Pedro later learned that his 
neighbors complained to Diana about the noise and vibration, that they were unsuccessful 
in obtaining relief, and that they decided to live with it in the end. 
 
Pedro approached Diana. She explained that she had already taken steps to mitigate the 
negative impact by requiring that all concerts end by 11:00 p.m. and setting a maximum 
noise level. Diana explained that the facility could not survive economically without rock 
concerts and that rock concerts were, by their nature, loud. 
 
A few days later, in an effort to find out if she might be able to relieve Pedro of some of 
his discomfort, Diana went to his house to determine whether sound-deadening materials 
might be added. She forgot to tell Pedro that she was coming. Diana let herself into 
Pedro’s backyard, took some measurements, and left without disturbing anything. 
 
Pedro intends to sue Diana. 
 

1. What claims may Pedro reasonably assert against Diana? Discuss. 
 

2. What remedies may Pedro reasonably seek? Discuss.  
 
 



 

QUESTION 3: SELECTED ANSWER A 
 
 

Pedro v. Diana 

1. Pedro's Claims Against Diana 

The issue is which claims that Pedro may assert against Diana. 

Private Nuisance 

The issue is whether Pedro may assert a claim for private nuisance against Diana due 

to the excessive noise and vibration from the open-air theater. A claim for private 

nuisance can be established by demonstrating that the defendant is causing a 

substantial and unreasonable interference with the plaintiff's use and enjoyment of the 

property. Interference is considered substantial when a reasonable person would find 

that there has been a significant deprivation of his or her ability to enjoy the property. A 

plaintiff's hyper-sensitivities are ignored when a court is adjudicating whether a nuisance 

exists. 

Here, the facts describe the noise level coming from the rock concerts as "horrific." The 

floor shakes and Pedro is precluded from having even a normal conversation in his own 

home. Pedro purchased the home because he thought it was going to be a perfect 

place to raise a family. Much to his horror, the loud noise from the rock concerts coming 

from the open-air theater constitute a substantial and unreasonable interference with his 

use and enjoyment of his residence. Pedro does not appear to be hypersensitive to the 

noise, given that his neighbors have also complained to Diana about the noise level on 

the property. Further, a reasonable person would find a substantial and unreasonable 

interference with the enjoyment of his or her own home if the floor was shaking every 

weekend and conversations could not be had. Diana may argue that no reasonable 



 

person would see this as a substantial interference because she has taken steps to 

mitigate the noise and resulting inconvenience as a result of the rock concerts (e.g., she 

only hosts rock concerts on weekends, the concerts must be done by 11:00 p.m., and 

she has set a maximum noise level). Diana also appears to be considering installing 

sound-deadening equipment as evidenced by her taking measurements in Pedro's 

backyard. But Diana's arguments are not likely to be availing given the significance of 

the disruption that Pedro is suffering. 

Thus, Pedro can assert a viable claim for private nuisance against Diana. 

Public Nuisance 

The issue is whether Pedro may assert a claim for public nuisance against Diana. A 

claim for public nuisance can be established by an unreasonable interference with the 

health, safety, and morals of the community at large. To recover under a theory of 

public nuisance, the plaintiff must suffer unique damages. 

Here, Pedro will argue that the public health and safety is being threatened by horrific 

loud noise coming from the rock concerts at the theater every weekend. However, 

Pedro's claim for a public nuisance suffers because he cannot identify that he has 

suffered unique damages. In particular, Pedro's neighbors have already complained 

about the noise. Pedro also lives in a subdivision located adjacent to the theater. 

Pedro's interest as a homeowner of one home in this subdivision that is experiencing 

noise is not unique as compared against to any other member of the residential 

community. Further, Diana will likely entirely contest that the theater is a public nuisance 

at all because the community thrives upon the inclusion of the theater; it is a 

cornerstone of the community and a focus of the cultural scene.  



 

Thus, Pedro is not likely to assert a viable claim against Diana for public nuisance. 

Trespass to Land 

The issue is whether Pedro may assert a claim for trespass to land against Diana. A 

trespass to land is an intentional tort. Trespass to land requires the showing of: (i) an 

intentional act on the part of the defendant, (ii) a physical invasion of real property, and 

(iii) causation, meaning that the defendant's conduct was a substantial factor in causing 

the injury. 

Here, Diana went to Pedro's house without his permission. She intended to come onto 

Pedro's property to determine whether sound-deadening materials might be added. She 

then voluntarily let herself into Pedro's backyard, which constituted a physical invasion 

of Pedro's real property. Moreover, Diana caused the action to occur because her letting 

herself into the backyard was the substantial factor in causing the trespass.  

Thus, Pedro can reasonably assert a claim against Diana for trespass to land. 

Conclusion 

Therefore, Pedro can assert claims for private nuisance, public nuisance, and trespass 

to land against Diana. 

2. Remedies that Pedro May Seek 

The issue is which remedies Pedro may seek against Diana. 

Compensatory Damages 

The issue is whether Pedro may obtain compensatory damages from Diana for the 

nuisance claims. Compensatory damages are meant to compensate the plaintiff for 

foreseeable losses and may be pecuniary or non-pecuniary (such as pain and 

suffering). Compensatory damages must also be certain and unavoidable. Traditionally, 



 

the method of damages calculation for a nuisance claim is the loss of use and 

enjoyment of the property plus any costs incurred while attempting to abate the 

nuisance. Courts will also offer an additional award to the plaintiff for the discomfort 

incurred as a result of the nuisance. Modernly, some courts are applying the doctrine of 

"permanent nuisance" when calculating a damages award in order to reduce the 

multiplicity of lawsuits that are being filed. Under this damages model, the plaintiff is 

entitled to recover as damages the diminution in value of his or her land. 

Here, if the court applies a traditional damages calculation, Pedro will be entitled to his 

loss of use and enjoyment in his residence. The facts do not indicate that Pedro 

incurred any costs in an attempt to abate the nuisance. In fact, the only action that he 

took to abate the nuisance was when he approached Diana and explained to her the 

complaints about the nuisance. Pedro did not incur any costs as a result of having this 

conversation. The court will make a reasonable award of damages to compensate 

Pedro for the discomfort caused. Diana may argue that Pedro's damages award should 

be reduced by his knowing purchase of a residence in close proximity to a theater that 

is known to host rock concerts. 

If the court applies the "permanent nuisance" doctrine, then Pedro will be entitled to 

recover the value of the diminution in his land as a result of the rock concerts. Diana will 

similarly argue that Pedro's recovery will need to be reduced by virtue of his assumption 

of the risk of coming to the nuisance.  

Thus, Pedro can recover compensatory damages under either of the models above. 

Nominal Damages 

The issue is whether Pedro may obtain nominal damages from Diana for the trespass to 



 

land. Nominal damages are those that are obtainable by a plaintiff when no harm was 

actually suffered (as in a simple trespass to land case). 

Here, Pedro did not suffer any damages as a result of Diana entering his property 

without his permission. The facts indicate that Diana left without disturbing anything in 

the backyard; thus nothing was damages as a result of Diana's conduct. Pedro can only 

be entitled to nominal damages from Diana for the trespass to land. 

Thus, Pedro can recover nominal damages from Diana for her trespass to land. 

Punitive Damages 

The issue is whether Pedro may seek punitive damages against Diana. Punitive 

damages are designed to punish a defendant for intentional conduct arising out of an 

intentional tort. Here, Pedro will not likely be able to recover punitive damages from 

Diana because she has acted in good faith by establishing reasonable parameters to 

confine the impact of the noise from the rock concerts. Thus, Pedro will not be able to 

seek punitive damages from Diana.  

Permanent Injunction 

The issue is whether Pedro may obtain a permanent injunction against Diana enjoining 

rock concerts at the open-air theater. An injunction is an equitable remedy. A permanent 

injunction will last for the amount of time imposed by the court. A negative injunction 

enjoins the defendant from engaging in a specified activity. A mandatory injunction 

orders the defendant to perform an affirmative act. The elements of a permanent 

injunction are (1) inadequate remedy at law, (2) the injunction is feasible, (3) the 

balancing of hardships weighs in favor of granting the injunction, and (4) no defenses 

apply. Each element will be discussed in turn below. 



 

Inadequate Remedy at Law 

The issue is whether there is an adequate remedy at law. If a violation if continuing, a 

court will deem that there is no adequate remedy at law. 

Here, the nuisance is continuing. In fact, on weekend evenings, Diana hosts rock 

concerts at the theater. The theater is a large open-air theater and Diana explained that 

the loud rock concerts will need to continue. 

Thus, there is no adequate remedy at law. 

Feasibility of Enforcement 

The issue is whether an injunction is feasible. The feasibility of enforcement turns on 

whether the injunction will be mandatory or negative. See above for the definitions of 

mandatory and negative injunctions. There are no feasibility issues with negative 

injunctions because the court can merely exercise its contempt power and hold the 

defendant in contempt of court if the defendant commits an act that it is enjoined from 

engaging. There are feasibility issues with a mandatory injunction, however, because it 

requires the court to supervise the defendant in ensuring that the defendant is 

complying with the injunction. Generally, the scarcity of judicial resources precludes 

courts from acting as supervisors to enforce mandatory injunctions. 

Here, Pedro will request a negative injunction in that the theater be enjoined from 

hosting further rock concerts. This will be feasible to enforce because the court can 

simply hold Diana in contempt of court if it learns that she sponsors a rock concert in 

violation of the injunction order. 

Thus, enforcement of the injunction is feasible because it will be a negative injunction. 

Balance of Hardships 



 

The issue is whether the balance of hardships will favor the granting of injunctive relief. 

In effectuating the balancing test, the court will balance the interests of the plaintiff in 

obtaining the injunction against the interests of the defendant and the public. If the 

burden to the defendant and the public outweighs the benefit to the plaintiff, then 

damages will be deemed an adequate remedy and an injunction will not be proper. 

Here, Pedro will argue that the balance of hardships tip in his favor because the noise 

from the rock concert is horrific and causing the floor to shake. Pedro cannot even 

maintain a conversation in his home due to the severe noise. Moreover, Pedro will 

argue that the public interest weighs in his favor because Pedro's neighbors have 

complained to Diana about the noise and vibration, and they received no meaningful 

response from Diana. Further, the theater is also rented to local dance companies 

during the week and generates revenue that way; it cannot be said that the theater is 

wholly dependent upon rock concerts for revenue generation. 

On the contrary, Diana will argue that her interests and the public interests will be 

significantly burdened if an injunction is issued against her. With respect to Diana, she 

has owned the facility for 30 years; in fact, she built it. At the time that she built the 

facility, it was near the edge of the city, and it was only as time went by that the city 

development expanded to include housing in the vicinity of the theater. The theater 

cannot survive economically without rock concerts and thus Diana's financial interests 

could be wholly, negatively impacted. Moreover, Diana will argue that the public interest 

will lie against granting injunctive relief because the theater employs 200 people and 

has been a focus of the city's cultural scene for many years. Without the rock concerts, 

the theater will become bankrupt, and 200 citizens will be out of work. 



 

Moreover, Diana has already taken steps that will work to mitigate the amount of the 

nuisance. Not only are rock concerts only on the weekend, but she requires that all 

concerts end by 11:00 p.m.; Diana also set a maximum noise level. Pedro's neighbors 

further dropped their complaints about the noise and Diana is taking reasonable 

measures to ensure that the nearby housing is only minimally impacted by the 

nuisance.  

In consideration of all of this evidence, a court will likely side with Diana in concluding 

that the public interest and her interests outweigh the burden on Pedro. An injunction 

would have an overall negative impact of the economy and the culture of the 

community, force numerous people out of jobs, forfeit revenue brought in by the rock 

concerts, and cause the theater to close its doors. 

Thus, on balance, the balance of hardships weighs against granting a permanent 

injunction.  

Defense - "Coming to the Nuisance" 

The issue is whether Diana can raise the defense of "coming to the nuisance" in 

precluding Pedro from obtaining injunctive relief. "Coming to the nuisance" means that 

the plaintiff voluntarily encountered the nuisance and decided to live near the nuisance 

anyway. "Coming to the nuisance" is generally not a defense to equitable relief. 

Here, Diana may argue that Pedro came to the nuisance and thus assumed the risk 

because he knew about the theater when he purchased the house. But that will not be a 

successful defense in the injunction action. (Diana could assert this in response to the 

damages award so that Pedro's damages can be mitigated by those that would have 

been avoidable.) 



 

Thus, "coming to the nuisance" is not a defense to the injunction. 

Conclusion 

Thus, it is likely that Pedro may reasonably seek a permanent injunction from Diana, but 

it will likely be denied on the basis of hardship. 

Overall Conclusion 

Therefore, Pedro may reasonably seek injunctive relief and damages remedies against 

Diana. 



 

QUESTION 3: SELECTED ANSWER B 
 

 
I. PEDRO'S CLAIMS AGAINST DIANA 

Trespass to land 

Trespass to land is intentional physical invasion of the land of another. Knowledge of 

legal title or intent to legally invade is not necessary; only the intent to physically invade 

suffices. 

Here, "A few days later, in an effort to find out if she might be able to relieve Pedro of 

some of his discomfort, Diana went to his house to determine whether sound-deadening 

materials might be added. She forgot to tell Pedro that she was coming. Diana let 

herself into Pedro's backyard, took some measurements, and left without disturbing 

anything." As such, D physically entered P's backyard, which is P's land, without 

consent. Although D did not intend to interfere with P's rights, D intended in fact to enter 

P's backyard physically. This satisfies the intent requirement. 

In conclusion, D committed trespass to land and is liable 

Defense of consent or private necessity fails 

Consent is a defense to trespass to land. Consent may be express or implied. Necessity 

is also a defense that exists when the action was justified because the trespass was 

done to prevent an imminent harm. Private necessity is when trespass was necessary 

to prevent harm to a private interest. Public necessity applies when the imminent or 

threatened harm was to the public. Public necessity is immune to damages caused by 

trespass. Private necessity claimant is still responsible for damages caused by 

trespass. 

Here, D may raise the defense of consent or private necessity. Consent defense fails 



 

because D did not seek P's consent expressly. Further, the mere owning of land does 

not imply consent to let others enter the backyard, even if they seek to enter to help the 

landowner. Further, any private necessity argument is weak. D could argue that it was 

necessary for D to measure P's land to help P. However, D could simply have asked P 

before entering. Since D forgot, D could have called P or returned at some other time. 

Since D simply entered P's backyard without seeking any form of consent, and since D 

had alternatives available and no imminent threat existed to make D's immediate 

entrance necessary, D will not establish these defenses. 

Only nominal damages available 

A physical trespass presumes that harm existed, and as such P does not have to prove 

that P suffered a specific pecuniary harm. However, based on the facts, D did not 

disturb anything and so it is unlikely P suffered any significant pecuniary damages. P 

will likely recover nominal damages, which are little amounts of damages that are 

awarded to vindicate the plaintiff's rights when not much harm was incurred in fact. 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, D committed trespass to land against P, and is liable. However, P can 

recover nominal damages, but will likely only recover nominal damages unless P can 

prove that P suffered some facts that indicated in the facts. 

Pedro approached Diana. she explained that she had already taken steps to mitigate 

the negative impact by requiring that all concerts end by 11:00 p.m. and setting a 

maximum noise level. Diana explained that the facility could not survive economically 

without rock concerts and that rock concerts were, by their nature, loud. 

Pedro intends to sue Diana 



 

Private nuisance 

Private nuisance occurs when the defendant substantially and unreasonably interfered 

with another private person's possession or use of private property. An interference is 

substantial when it would be offensive to a reasonable person. A hardened plaintiff who 

is subjectively not bothered by the interference can still recover if that interference is 

"substantial." An interference is unreasonable when the harm it causes is outweighed 

by the value it provides. 

Whether interference is substantial 

Here, "As soon as Pedro moved into his new house, he was horrified by the noise and 

vibration coming from the theater during rock concerts. He could feel the floor shake 

and could not have a normal conversation because of the loud noise." It appears that 

the shaking is physical as P can feel the vibrations of the sound. This likely offends 

reasonable persons because although whether loud noise by itself offends a reasonable 

person is arguable, when the sound physically vibrates and causes movement the 

reasonable person is likely to be offended by it and be annoyed by it, and the 

reasonable person's life will be interfered by it and their enjoyment of their home is likely 

reduced, possibly significantly. Further, "Pedro later learned that his neighbors 

complained to Diana about the noise and vibration, that they were unsuccessful in 

obtaining relief, and that they decided to live with it in the end." As such, it appears that 

people other than Pedro were in fact offended by the noises and vibrations to the point 

that they instituted a good faith lawsuit. D will highlight that they decided to live with it, 

and this shows that the interference is not substantial. Had it been substantial, D will 

argue, then the neighbors could objectively not decide to live with it. Although whether 



 

interference is substantial is a fact intensive inquiry, given the fact that the venue is 

surrounded by residences and the noise physically vibrates and quakes the neighbors, 

the court will likely deem the noise and vibrations substantial and offensive to a 

responsible person. 

Whether interference is unreasonable 

Here, "D operates a large open-air theater. "On weekdays, Diana rents the venue to the 

local dance companies. On weekend evenings, Diana hosts rock concerts at the 

theater. Revenue from the rock concerts funds most of the operating costs of the venue. 

The theater employs about 200 people and has been a focus of the city's cultural 

scene."" As such, it appears that D produces a lot of value to the community. Local 

dance companies likely need D's venue to do their performances and make their living. 

Further, rock and culture are important benefits to the community. It appears that culture 

is a major economic drive for the city. Further, the theater employs 200 people, which is 

a great benefit and contribution to the community. D will highlight that D's venue allows 

200 people to make a livelihood while promoting the city's culture and fostering social 

ties and community bonds through art. Although P will counter that the harm is 

significant because it makes the lives of people around the venue difficult to live, to 

sleep, etc., D will counter that the very fact that the neighbors can decide to live with the 

noises attest to the fact that the harm is not significant, especially considering the great 

magnitude of value to the community - 200 jobs, cultural focus, tourism, economy, 

dancers, and musicians, etc. 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, the court can rule either way, if this were a case of first impression and 



 

preclusion was not a consideration. Although it appears that the interference is 

substantial, it also appears that an organized group of people can decide to live with it. 

Also, it appears that the venue provides a great amount of value to the public that 

cannot be denied. As such, the court may legitimately determine that the interference is 

not unreasonable and thus there is no private nuisance here. 

Coming to the nuisance is not a defense 

Coming to the nuisance is typically not a defense. Such consideration only is a defense 

when a party intentionally comes to the nuisance for the sole purpose of harassing or 

instituting a lawsuit. In general, coming to the nuisance is one of many factors 

considered in the overall analysis. 

Here, "Thirty years ago, Diana built a large open-air theater to provide an outdoor multi-

use entertainment venue." Then, "Pedro recently purchased a house in a subdivision 

located adjacent to the theater. Although Pedro knew about the theater when he bought 

his house, he thought that the new house was a perfect place to raise a family." As 

such, it appears that P not only came to it, P knew of the theater and its potential 

consequences and P did not investigate at all. Since the neighbors had already brought 

a lawsuit before, a simple asking of questions around would likely give P notice of the 

theater's activities. As such, it appears that P was on inquiry notice to inquire into the 

theater's activities but failed to do so. However, coming to the nuisance is not 

dispositive in any way because P did not come to the nuisance solely to harass with a 

lawsuit; P genuinely came in good faith because P believed that it was a perfect place 

to raise a family. As such, the court will not outright dismiss P's private nuisance. 

However, the court may use the fact that P came to the nuisance and the fact that P 



 

failed to inquire at all into the theater's activities to conclude on the 

substantial/unreasonableness analysis in favor of D. 

Neighborhood creeping into D's venue 

Another factor is the neighborhood's creeping into D's venue. As mentioned above with 

P's coming to nuisance, the "neighborhood" coming to the nuisance will not be a 

dispositive factor and may merely be one of many other factors. However, it appears 

that the court should at least give some weight to the fact that "When built, its location 

was near the edge of the city. As time went by, city development expanded to include 

housing in the vicinity of the theater." As such, D was operating D's venue in good faith. 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, the court will likely side with D based on the totality of circumstances and 

find that the value of D's operation outweighs harms that apparently were accepted to 

by the neighbors. Further preclusion may or may not be a consideration as discussed 

below. 

Public nuisance 

Public nuisance is substantial and unreasonable interference with health, safety, 

morals, or other rights of the community. When a private party seeks to bring a lawsuit 

for public nuisance, that party must have suffered a harm distinct from the harm 

suffered by the community. 

Here, the harm as mentioned above might be ruled not unreasonable. Further, P has 

not suffered any harm from the noise or vibration that is unique from the harm suffered 

by other neighbors. P suffered the same exact harm that everyone around P suffers. As 

such, P cannot bring a public nuisance claim. 



 

Preclusion 

Preclusion bars the re-litigation of issues already litigated. Claim preclusion and issue 

preclusion exist. 

Claim preclusion 

Claim preclusion bars re litigation of same claims when there is a final valid judgment on 

the merits, asserted by same parties in same configuration, and the claims are the 

same. 

Here, the parties are different because P was not part of the earlier lawsuit for relief. As 

such, claim preclusion does not apply. 

Issue preclusion 

Issue preclusion bars re-litigation of same issues when 1) in a final valid judgment on 

the merits exist; 2) the issues was necessarily determined; 3) the issue was essential to 

the judgment; and 4) no mutuality problems exist. 

Here, the prior parties were unsuccessful in obtaining relief, and they decided to live 

with it. As such, the prior lawsuit likely ended, and the plaintiffs decided against 

appealing. As such, the decision is final. It appears that the claim was not unsuccessful 

because of personal jurisdiction or other issues, and so it appears that the prior lawsuit 

went into the merits. The vibrations and noise are the whole point of the prior lawsuit 

and of this lawsuit as well. As such, the issue was both necessarily determined and 

essential to prior judgment. Finally, mutuality problems must not exist. First, D was party 

to the prior action and had a chance to defend D's self. Further, P was not party to the 

prior action. However, in this case since D was successful in the prior action, D will seek 

to assert issue preclusion against P. Since P was not party to the prior action, P had no 



 

chance to be heard. As such, D cannot assert issue preclusion against P. 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, D will not be able to assert issue preclusion against P. P will not want to 

assert preclusion because D prevailed (it appears) in the former action. 

Negligent infliction of emotional distress 

Defenses: defense (self, property, others); consent; arrest; necessity 

Other torts (negligence, strict liability) 

II. REMEDIES PEDRO CAN SEEK 

Remedies for trespass to land was discussed earlier and is likely to be limited to 

nominal damages, especially since D will probably not come against and against and 

cause a multiplicity of suits problem. The remedies here will concern the case that P 

wins on the nuisance claim. 

Money damages 

Tort money damages are primarily "compensatory damages" which seeks to 

compensate the plaintiff put make the plaintiff whole. Sometimes there are "nominal" 

damages that seek to vindicate a plaintiff who basically has not been harmed, as 

discussed above. There are also "punitive" damages which will punish the defendant for 

willful and wanton conduct. 

Here, punitive damages should not be available because D is not engaged in willful and 

wanton conduct to harm P or others. Rather, D is engaged in a legitimate business that 

benefits the entire community which happens to also harm nearby neighbors, who came 

to the nuisance because both the neighborhood crept towards D's venue and the 

neighbors decided to purchase the homes or rent the homes (in which case it would not 



 

be that costly for them to relocate or move away). 

Further, P was seeking to raise a family here and live a quiet life here with P's family. 

However, the value of what P is unable to do this because of the noise and vibrations. 

First, it is not certain that P will win damages because of reasons discussed above - no 

nuisance might exist. Second, even if P wins on the private nuisance claim, it is possible 

that P did not suffer much pecuniary harm. Perhaps P actually got the land for a 

cheaper price because the seller reduced the price because of the noise and vibrations. 

As such, P might not have suffered harm in decrease of land value (P might have gotten 

the land cheaply to begin with). Third, it is possible that P will be culpable as well 

because P failed to inquire at all, as described above, when a simple few questions 

would have revealed the problem, or even a visit on a weekend. 

If P's land value did go down because of the noise and vibrations, then P may be 

entitled to the difference between the value of the land as P purchased it without the 

noise and vibration issues. 

Temporary restraining order, preliminary injunction, permanent injunction 

P may also seek equitable relief. Although P might go through temporary restraining 

orders and preliminary injunction, ultimately it is a permanent injunction that P would 

seek to try to enjoin D from having such loud noises. 

Permanent injunction is appropriate when 1) legal damage is inadequate; 2) 

enforcement is feasible; 3) property right exists; 4) balance of harms and equities; 5) no 

defenses. 

1) legal damage is inadequate 

Legal damages might be inadequate when the conduct at issue might be repeated or 



 

occur in the future; or when damages would be speculative or uncertain; or when the 

defendant is insolvent so a judgment would be meaningless. 

Here, damages would be speculative because it would be difficult not only to measure 

the harm of constant noises and vibrations. Further, D seeks to play noises every 

weekend into possibly likely decades into the future. But D might stop the operation next 

year. As such, damages are speculative and uncertain. It can be argued that the 

decrease in value of land with the noises is a sufficiently certain measure of damages, 

however. 

2) enforcement is feasible 

A negative injunction prohibiting an action is easier to enforce than affirmative 

injunctions. One single act is easier to enforce than series of acts. An act requiring skills 

or personal taste is harder to enforce than objective acts. Involuntary servitudes are 

disfavored if not unconstitutional. 

Here, the injunction sought is negative, which is not hard to enforce. Every time D 

engages in the making of noise, every neighbor would hear. As such, it would be 

noticed, and someone can make a complaint to the court and the court can issue 

contempt order. Further, since the land is in the state and city of the court, there are no 

jurisdictional issues and the injunction, and its enforcement is feasible. 

3) property right exists 

Traditionally, a protectible property right was needed. Modernly and in CA, property 

right is not necessary. Here, however, there is right in use and enjoyment of land 

property, quiet enjoyment, without the noise and vibrations. As such, this element would 

be satisfied. 



 

4) balance of harms and equities 

The harms and equities must be balanced, including benefit to the public. Here, the 

harm to public would be high because 200 people would lose their jobs. The harm to P 

would be high as well because on every weekend P would suffer loud noises and 

vibrations until 11pm, which is arguably very late and offensive to reasonable ordinary 

persons. The harm to D would be significant, although perhaps D can still operate 

during weekdays because dance performances seem not to be the issue, only rock 

concerts. 

5) no defenses 

It appears that P did not unduly delay and cause D prejudice (no laches). It also 

appears that P did not act in a culpable manner even if failure to inquire was a little 

neglectful (no unclean hands) 

Conclusion 

In conclusion, the analysis for permanent injunction does not appear to be one sided. 

As such, the court may likely refuse to grant it, as it did in the prior action by neighbors 

against the same D. 

TROs and preliminary injunctions 

The analysis for TROs and preliminary injunctions is similar to that for permanent 

injunctions. The major difference is that they require the necessity of maintaining status 

quo until a preliminary hearing can be held because of imminent harm (TRO) and until a 

full trial (preliminary injunction). 

Here, it appears that neighbors can decide to live with the noise and vibrations. The 

neighbors had organized to file a lawsuit. As such, they would not merely decide to "live 



 

with it" out of shyness, since they could commiserate with each other and feel free to 

complain and such feelings would avalanche and not be reduced. As such, it appears 

that there is no imminent irreparable harm that would justify TROs and preliminary 

injunctions. 

Further based on the analysis above on private nuisance especially, likelihood of 

success does not appear to be great; It might be 60% at most. 

other remedies 

Other remedies such as constructive trust and equitable lien do not apply and are not 

relevant. Permanent injunction is the only relevant one and even that is unlikely. 

  



 

QUESTION 4 
 
 

Dan is facing trial in the Superior Court of California for the murder of Victor. Dan entered 
into a valid retainer agreement with Attorney Anita for her to represent him. Anita met with 
Dan to discuss Dan’s defense. In their interview, Dan claimed he had spent the entire 
evening when the murder occurred with his father, Frank. The next day, Anita sent an 
email to Dan expressing her concern that his alibi was weak. Dan replied to the email and 
admitted that he had lied about his alibi, but denied that he killed Victor. 
 
Anita visited Dan’s apartment and spoke with Dan’s roommate, Ben, who said that Dan 
confided in him that he had killed Victor. Ben gave Anita a pair of Dan’s pants that were 
covered in blood. The next day, Anita gave the prosecutor the bloody pants and the email 
exchange about Dan’s alibi. 
 
Anita then decided she did not want to represent Dan any longer because she was tired 
of his lies. Anita petitioned the court to withdraw as Dan’s attorney. The court granted 
permission for Anita to withdraw. Frank then immediately hired another lawyer to 
represent Dan.  
 
At Dan’s trial, the prosecutor called Ben as a witness to testify to Dan’s statement that he 
killed Victor. The prosecutor then called Anita to testify: (1) about Dan’s statement that he 
had been with Frank on the night of the murder; (2) that Anita had received the bloody 
pants from Ben and turned them over to the prosecutor; and (3) that Ben had told Anita 
that Dan said he killed Victor.  
 

1. Assume all proper objections have been made. Should the following items be 
admitted into evidence: 

 
a) Ben’s testimony? Discuss. 

 
b) Anita’s testimony regarding Dan’s statement that he was with Frank the night 

of the murder? Discuss. 
 

c) Anita’s testimony that she had received the bloody pants from Ben and turned 
them over to the prosecutor? Discuss. 

 
d) Anita’s testimony that Ben told her that Dan said he had killed Victor? Discuss. 

 
 Answer each according to California law. 
 
 

 
QUESTION CONTINUES ON THE NEXT PAGE 

 
 



 

2. What ethical violations, if any, did Attorney Anita commit by: 
 
a) Turning over the bloody pants to the prosecutor? Discuss. 

 
b) Turning over the email exchange regarding Dan’s alibi to the prosecutor? 

Discuss. 
 

c) Withdrawing from representing Dan? Discuss. 
 

 Answer each according to California and ABA authorities. 



 

QUESTION 4: SELECTED ANSWER A 
 
 
Under Proposition 8 of the California constitution, all relevant evidence is admissible 

during a criminal trial, unless it is subject to an exclusion such as hearsay or privilege. 

Logical relevance 

For any evidence to be admissible, it must be logically relevant. Evidence is logically 

relevant when it makes the existence of any fact of consequence more or less likely to 

be true. In California, the fact of consequence must also be in dispute. 

Legal relevance 

Evidence is legally relevant when the probative value of the evidence exceeds the risk 

of undue prejudice, confusing the jury, or unnecessary delay. 

1. (a) Ben's testimony 

Logical Relevance 

See rule above. 

Ben's (B's) testimony is logically relevant. B is able to testify that D admitted to killing 

Viktor (V). That is a fact at issue and of consequence, and highly relevant to this case. 

Legal Relevance 

See rule above. 

B's testimony is also legally relevant. D's statement has substantial probative value. It 

wouldn't confuse the jury or cause undue delay. And while it would be prejudicial to D's 

case, it would not be unduly prejudicial, as the requirement of legal relevance does not 

prohibit any evidence that may show guilt. 

Witness Competency 

In order for witnesses to testify as to a certain topic, they must have personal 



 

knowledge of the facts they are speaking to, and a present recollection of the events. 

They must also take an oath to tell the truth and be able to present their testimony in a 

way that is helpful to the trier of fact. 

Here, B is competent to give this testimony. It is based on his personal knowledge of his 

conversation with D, and he is able to presently recall it.  

Accordingly, because his testimony is relevant and he is a competent witness, he was 

property allowed to testify. 

Hearsay 

However, the issue is whether D's statement that Ben is testifying to is hearsay. 

Hearsay is an out of court statement offered for the truth of the matter asserted. 

Hearsay is not admissible, because the party is offered against is not able to impeach 

the witness or make issue of the declarant's credibility. 

Here, D's statement is hearsay. It was told to B out of court, and it is being offered by 

the prosecutor as evidence that D killed V. Accordingly, it is inadmissible as hearsay. 

However, there are exceptions and exclusions to the hearsay rule. If one exists, the 

statement can still be offered into evidence. 

Party admission 

A party admission is an exclusion from hearsay. It exists when the opposing party has 

offered the statement out of court, and it is an admission of a relevant fact. 

Here, the statement is being offered into evidence by the prosecution, so D is the 

opposing party. Additionally, this constitutes an admission of the most important fact of 

all - that D killed V. Accordingly, D's statement could be offered into evidence as a party 

admission. 



 

Statement against interest 

D's statement could also possibly be offered as a statement against interest. In order for 

this exception to apply, the defendant must make a statement that is against their 

proprietary, pecuniary, penal, or social interest, and they are aware it is against their 

interest when it is offered. 

Here, this statement is clearly against D's penal interest. By admitting to a murder, he 

could be charged and sent to prison. This is also a fact that any reasonable person 

would be aware of. 

However, in order for this exception to apply, the declarant must be unavailable. A 

declarant is unavailable when they are dead or sick, when they refused to testify, or 

when they assert a privilege, among other reasons. Here, it is possible that D, as the 

defendant in this case, will assert his right not to testify. If he were to do so, this 

exception would also be available. 

In conclusion, this testimony was properly admitted as a party admission, and may also 

be proper as a statement against interest if D choose not to testify. 

(b) Anita's testimony regarding Dan's statement. 

Logical Relevance 

See rule above. 

Anita's (A) testimony is logically relevant because it speaks to D's possible alibi. 

Whether or not D was with Frank is a fact of consequence, and one that it is in dispute. 

Legal Relevance 

See rule above. 

Her testimony is also legally relevant. Information concerning D's alibi has substantial 



 

probative value and outweighs any of the other factors discussed above. 

Witness Competency 

A is competent to testify to testify on this topic because it is based on her conversation 

with D. 

Attorney/Client Privilege 

The issue is whether D's statement is covered by attorney/client privilege.  

Attorney client privilege prevents the disclosure of any confidential information obtained 

from the attorney from their client for the purpose of furthering the representation. The 

privilege is held by the client, and only the client can choose to waive it, not the 

attorney. In California, the privilege lasts until the client's will has been probated after 

their death. 

Here, D's statement to A was made during the representation. D and A entered into a 

valid retainer, and then the two of them met to discuss the case and provide A with the 

facts. The statement was provided as D's alibi, and while he later admitted that the 

statement was false it was still made as part of the representation and in furtherance 

thereof.  

Hearsay 

Additionally, the statement may be objected to as hearsay. However, it would not be 

provided into evidence for the truth of the matter asserted because (1) the prosecutor 

would not want to help D establish an alibi, and (2) D later admitted it was false. 

In conclusion, the statement is protected by the attorney/client privilege and should not 

be admitted into evidence. 

(c) The bloody pants. 



 

Logical Relevance 

See rule above. 

This testimony is logically evidence is relevant because it speaks to the source of 

important evidence. 

Legal Relevance 

See rule above. 

This testimony is also legally relevant because it is highly probative, and outweighs the 

other factors discussed above. 

Witness Competency 

A is competent to make this testimony because it is based on her personal interaction 

with B, and she has a present recollection of the events. 

Attorney/Client Privilege 

See rule above. 

D may also assert that this evidence is subject to attorney/client privilege. However, 

information regarding where the bloody pants came from was not communicated to A by 

D. The attorney client privilege only covers statements made in confidence from the 

client to the attorney, not statements made by third parties, and not information obtained 

independently from the attorney. Because A received the bloody pair of D's pants from 

B, no information surrounding them is subject to attorney/client privilege. 

In conclusion, the testimony regarding the bloody pants should be admitted into 

evidence. 

(d) Ben's statement that Dan had killed Victor. 

Logical Relevance 



 

See rule above. 

This testimony is logically evidence is relevant because it is an important admission by 

D as to his guilt. 

Legal Relevance 

See rule above. 

This testimony is also legally relevant because it is highly probative, and outweighs the 

other factors discussed above. 

Attorney/Client Privilege 

D may once again attempt to assert attorney/client privilege. However, for the reasons 

discussed above, statements by third parties are not covered by the privilege, only 

statements between attorney and client. Accordingly, this information is not subject to 

attorney/client privilege. 

Hearsay 

See rule above. 

However, this statement is also hearsay, as it is being offered for the truth of the matter 

asserted. When there are two layers of hearsay, both of them must be admissible for 

the statement to be admitted into evidence. Here, D's statement to B that he killed V is 

hearsay, and B's statement to A that D admitted to killing V is also hearsay. 

D's statement to B would be admissible for the reasons discussed above. It is a party 

admission, and potentially a statement against interest. 

However, Ben's statement does not fit into any hearsay exception. Because the hearsay 

rules require that all levels of hearsay have an exception, this statement should not be 

admitted. 



 

In conclusion, B's statement to A regarding Dan's admission should not be admitted. 

2. Anita's ethical violations. 

(a) Turning over the bloody pants.   

Duty of confidentiality 

A may have violated her duty of confidentiality to D under the ABA and California rules 

of professional conduct. An attorney owes their client a duty of confidentiality. All 

confidential info obtained by an attorney in the course of representation must not be 

disclosed to third parties, and only used for their client's benefit. This duty is broader 

than the attorney/client privilege, as it prevents all disclosures not just testimony. 

Here, that duty covers all confidential information A obtained about D during their 

representation. However, the duty of confidentiality does not extend to the fruits of a 

crime. 

Fruits of a crime 

If an attorney comes into possession of the fruits of a crime, that information cannot be 

protected by the duty of confidentiality. It must be turned over to the authorities. If a 

client informs their attorney where evidence of their crimes is located, the attorney is 

under no obligation to retrieve it. If they do, they must turn it in. However, an attorney is 

allowed to hold an item of evidence for a reasonable period of time in order to inspect it 

as part of building their client's case. Additionally, the attorney cannot disclose the 

source of the evidence when turning it over. 

Here, A was under an obligation to turn in the bloody pants and did not violate her duty 

of confidentiality by doing so. However, if she was to disclose any information regarding 

where the evidence came from, that would have been a violation. Though that does not 



 

appear to have occurred based on the facts presented. 

Accordingly, A did not violate an ethical obligation by turning in the bloody pants. 

(b) Turning over the email 

Duty of confidentiality 

See rule above. 

However, A did commit a breach of her duty of confidentiality by turning over the emails 

from D. That information was protected by the duty of confidentiality, and A was under 

no requirement to turn that information over. 

By disclosing this email, she breached her duty to D. 

Duty of competence 

A also may have breached her duty of competence. An attorney owes a duty to their 

clients to use their skill, knowledge, thoroughness, and preparation solely for their 

client's benefit. They must act prudently and diligently in their client's best interest. 

By turning over an email admitting he lied about his alibi, A has violated that duty. A 

reasonably prudent attorney would not turn over confidential information regarding their 

client’s case and alibi. 

If D has insisted on testifying at trial that he had this alibi when A knew it was not true, 

she would have ethical obligations to dissuade him from testifying, to seek to withdraw if 

D insisted on offering false testimony, and to only allow him to testify in a narrative 

fashion if she could not withdraw. However, this was far before that point 

Accordingly, A also breached her duty of competence owed to D. 

In conclusion, by turning over the email, A breached her duty of confidentiality and duty 

of competence. 



 

(c) Withdrawing from representation. 

Mandatory withdrawal 

An attorney is required to withdraw when (1) they are terminated, (2) when their 

representation of the client violates the law or ethics rules (such as in the case of a 

conflict), (3) when a mental or physical condition prevents the attorney from undertaking 

effective representation, and (4) where the client's course of conduct requires the 

attorney to participate in or assist with a crime or fraud. 

   Here, A has not been terminated, there is no violation of law or ethics rules, she has 

no mental or physical condition preventing her from representing D, and D has not 

asked her to participate in a crime or fraud. Accordingly, there are no rules mandating 

that she withdraw. 

However, there are also grounds that exists for permissive withdrawal. 

Permissive withdrawal 

Under the ABA, an attorney is permitted to withdraw if they can do so without 

prejudicing their client's case. This rule does not exist under the California ethics rules. 

Under both sets of rules, an attorney can also withdraw if the client insists on a course 

of action the lawyer disagrees with or considers repugnant, if the client has misused the 

client's services in the past, or if the client has not performed their duties (such as the 

payment of fees). 

The most likely reason for withdrawal that A could argue is that D is insisting on a 

course of conduct that she disagrees with or considers repugnant. If she believes based 

on the evidence that D is guilty, and is lying about his innocence, that may be sufficient 

grounds. As the court has allowed her to withdraw from this case, it appears that they 



 

agree with her. 

However, A is required to give D notice prior to withdrawal. It does not appear that she 

has done so. By not providing him notice, there is a risk that her withdrawal has 

prejudiced his case. 

Additionally, A is required to return any portion of an unused fee that D has paid and 

return his files promptly. The facts don't appear to indicate that she has done this either. 

In conclusion, A has violated a duty to D by improperly withdrawing.  



 

QUESTION 4: SELECTED ANSWER B 
 
 

Ben's Testimony 

Relevance 

In order to be admissible, evidence must be both legally and logically relevant. Under 

the CEC, evidence is logically relevant if it tends to prove or disprove any fact in dispute 

related to the matter. However, judges have broad discretion to exclude logically 

relevant evidence if it is not legally relevant. Evidence is legally relevant if its probative 

value is not substantially outweighed by other factors such as unfair prejudice, waste of 

time, delay, unnecessarily cumulative evidence, or confusing the jury. Under Proposition 

8, all relevant evidence is admissible in a criminal trial, subject to some exceptions such 

as hearsay and privilege rules.  

Ben's testimony is logically relevant, since it tends to prove a fact in dispute (that Dan 

killed Victor). It is also legally relevant since its probative value is not substantially 

outweighed by unfair prejudice or other issues. Prop 8 will not apply because the 

statement is hearsay.  

Hearsay 

Hearsay is an out-of-court statement offered to prove the truth of the matter asserted. 

Hearsay is inadmissible unless an exception applies. Here, Dan's statement that he 

killed Victor is an out-of-court statement that is being offered to prove that Dan killed 

Victor (the truth of the matter asserted). Thus, the statement is hearsay and will be 

inadmissible unless an exception applies.  

Statement by Party Opponent 

A statement made by a party to a proceeding will be admitted even though it is hearsay 



 

if it is offered by the party's opponent. Here, the hearsay declarant is Dan, who is a 

party to the proceeding. The statement is being offered by his opponent, the 

prosecution. Thus, the statement qualifies as a statement by a party opponent and will 

be admissible.  

Statement Against Interest 

A statement against interest is a statement that was against the penal, financial, or 

social interest of the declarant when it was made. In order to be admissible as an 

exception to hearsay, the declarant must be unavailable to testify. A declarant is 

unavailable to testify if they have a total loss of memory, are dead, or are unreachable 

by subpoena. Here, Dan's statement that he killed Victor was against his penal interest, 

since confessing to murder can get you arrested and sent to prison. However, if Dan is 

testifying in his own defense, then he is available, and the exception will not be 

available. If Dan is not testifying in his own defense (as is his right as a criminal 

defendant), then he will be considered unavailable, and the statement may come in 

under this exception. Regardless, the statement will be admitted under the "statement 

by party opponent" exception.  

Conclusion: 

Ben's testimony is admissible.  

Anita's Testimony: Dan's Statement 

Relevance 

Anita's testimony about Dan's statement that he was with Frank the night of the murder 

is logically relevant, as it tends to make it less likely that Dan killed Victor. Additionally, 

depending on how the prosecutor tries to use it, it may be relevant as impeachment 



 

evidence. However, it may not be legally relevant. Since Anita used to be Dan's 

attorney, having her testify against him may hold undue influence with the jury, and 

create unfair prejudice that substantially outweighs the probative value of her evidence. 

Thus, the evidence may not be legally relevant.  

Privilege 

Even if the evidence is logically and legally relevant, it is protected by the attorney-client 

privilege. Attorney-client privilege is an evidentiary privilege held by the client, whereby 

an attorney may not disclose anything a client told her in confidence in the course of 

seeking legal services. Here, Dan clearly told her that he was with Frank in confidence, 

as they met (apparently alone) in order to discuss his case. Additionally, Dan told Anita 

this while seeking legal services, since they were discussing Dan's defense. Thus, Anita 

violated the attorney-client privilege by testifying against Dan without his waiver of the 

privilege. Under the CEC, the attorney may only violate the privilege in limited 

circumstances. For instance, the attorney may violate the privilege to prevent a crime 

that would result in substantial bodily harm or death to another. Here, the crime has 

already occurred, so Anita's testimony does not fall within the exception.  

Prop 8 does not overcome attorney-client privilege.   

Hearsay 

Dan's statement to Anita does not qualify as hearsay, because it is not being offered to 

prove the truth of the matter asserted (that Dan was with Frank). Rather, it is either 

being offered for impeachment purposes (to show that Dan was lying), or for some other 

purpose. However, the testimony was still improperly admitted as it violated the 

attorney-client privilege.  



 

Impeachment 

If this statement is being offered for impeachment purposes, it is also improperly 

admitted, as it is not permissible to impeach a witness by prior inconsistent statement 

(in this case, Dan) who has yet to testify (and thus, there is nothing that his prior 

statement could be inconsistent with). It is also improper to impeach a witness by prior 

inconsistent statement if that witness is not given a chance to explain the inconsistency 

(which Dan will not get if he is asserting his Fifth Amendment right not to testify).  

Character Evidence 

If this statement is being offered to show Dan's character for dishonesty, it was also 

improperly admitted. In a criminal trial, character evidence is only admissible about traits 

pertinent to the crime charged and is only admissible once the defendant has opened 

the door. Here, Dan has not opened the door, and honesty is not a pertinent trait in a 

murder trial. Thus, this would be improperly admitted character evidence.  

Anita's Testimony: Bloody Pants   

Relevance 

Anita's testimony about the bloody pants is logically relevant, since the fact that Dan 

had bloody pants tends to make it more likely that he killed Victor. Additionally, Anita's 

testimony can be used to authenticate the pants. There is the same legal relevance 

issue as before, where the fact that Anita was formerly Dan's attorney might create 

unfair prejudice sufficient to outweigh the probative value of the testimony. Thus, this 

testimony likely should not be admitted unless Prop 8 overcomes this issue.  

Privilege 

Receiving Dan's pants from Ben would not qualify as privileged information, since it was 



 

not a statement made by Dan for the purpose of obtaining legal services. Thus, the 

attorney-client privilege does not apply.  

Personal Knowledge 

A witness must have personal knowledge about the matter of which they are testifying. 

Anita knows that she received the bloody pants from Ben and turned them over to the 

prosecutor. Thus, she had personal knowledge sufficient for this requirement.  

Conclusion 

The testimony about receiving Ben's pants was improperly admitted unless Prop 8 

allows the evidence in despite the legal relevance issue.  

Anita's Testimony: Ben's Statement 

Relevance 

Anita's testimony about Ben's statement is logically relevant because Dan's statement 

that he killed Victor tends to make that fact more likely. Anita's testimony still has the 

same legal relevance issue related to her being Dan's prior attorney. However, other 

than that the probative value is not outweighed by unfair prejudice, and so the evidence 

is legally relevant.  

Personal Knowledge 

There is no personal knowledge problem, because Anita is testifying about what Ben 

told her Dan said, rather than testifying that she heard Dan said something to 

someone.  

Hearsay within Hearsay 

Anita's testimony contains two levels of hearsay: the outer hearsay is Ben's statement, 

and the inner hearsay is Dan's statement. Where there are multiple levels of hearsay, 



 

each level must be admissible under an exception in order for the entire statement to be 

admissible.  

Dan's Statement (Inner Hearsay) 

Dan's statement is hearsay because it is being offered to prove the truth of the matter 

asserted (that Dan killed Victor). As discussed above, this is likely admissible as the 

admission of a party opponent.  

Ben's Statement (Outer Hearsay) 

Ben's statement is hearsay because it is being offered to prove that Dan said he killed 

Victor. This is hearsay not admissible under any exception. It is not the statement of a 

party opponent since Ben is not a party. It also was likely not an excited utterance to 

Anita, as there is no indication that Ben was under the stress of a stressful event when 

he made it. Thus, because the outer hearsay is inadmissible, the entire statement was 

improperly admitted. Prop 8 cannot overcome hearsay issues.  

Privilege 

Attorney-client privilege does not apply to this statement, since Ben was not Anita's 

client and Dan's statement was not made directly to Anita (because it was made to a 

third party, it was not confidential).  

Ethical Violations: Turning over Pants 

Duty of Candor/Duty of Fairness to Opposing Counsel 

Attorneys have an obligation of candor to the tribunal and a duty of fairness to opposing 

counsel. This duty prohibits them from concealing evidence. While Anita likely should 

have refused to take the bloody pants in the first place, it was likely not an ethical 

violation for her to turn them over to the prosecutor once she had them.  



 

Ethical Violations: Turning over Email Exchange 

Duty of Loyalty 

Lawyers have a duty of loyalty to their clients. Anita violated this duty when she turned 

over the email exchange about Dan's alibi to the prosecutor, since a defendant in a 

criminal case could reasonably expect his attorney not to help the prosecution in ways 

not required by law or the ethical rules. Thus, this constituted a violation of the duty of 

loyalty.  

Duty of Confidentiality 

Under both the ABA and California rules, lawyers have a strict duty of confidentiality to 

their clients. This prohibits lawyers from revealing any information they learn related to 

their client's case that is not known to the general public. This rule is broader than the 

attorney-client privilege; the California rule is much stricter than the corresponding ABA 

rule.  

Under the ABA rule, a lawyer may break the duty of confidentiality if it is necessary to 

prevent a crime, substantial bodily harm or death, or mitigate financial loss if the 

lawyer's services were used in connection with that financial loss. Additionally, if the 

lawyer's services were used or are currently being used to perpetrate a crime or fraud, 

the lawyer may break confidentiality to mitigate the harm. Under the California rules, 

confidentiality may only be broken in order to prevent a crime that is likely to result in 

substantial bodily harm or death.  

Here, the breach of confidentiality was not permissible under either the ABA or 

California rules. Turning over the email exchange did not prevent or mitigate the harm 

from any crime or activity in which the lawyer's services were used. Anita might try to 



 

argue that Dan was attempting to use her services to lie to the court by lying about his 

alibi. However, there is no indication that Dan was going to lie on the stand at trial, as 

he admitted his alibi was false. Additionally, even if he was planning on lying on the 

stand, Anita had a duty to try to mitigate by attempting to persuade him not to lie. If he 

insisted on lying on the stand, Anita would have been allowed to withdraw (under the 

ABA rules), or simply allow him to testify without engaging (the narrative approach, 

under the California rules). However, Anita did not attempt to dissuade Dan from lying, if 

that was even his intention in the first place. Thus, Anita violated her duty.  

Duty to Communicate 

Lawyers have a duty to communicate with their clients. By not telling Dan that she was 

turning the email exchange over to the prosecutor, Anita likely violated her duty to 

communicate with Dan and keep him appraised of her actions related to the case.  

Ethical Violations: Withdrawal 

Duty to the Profession  

Lawyers have a duty to the profession that discourages them from withdrawing from the 

representation of clients simply because they are guilty, especially criminal defendants. 

Anita likely violated this duty by her withdrawal.  

Permissive Withdrawal 

Under the California rules, a lawyer is allowed to withdraw from representation if the 

client is making the representation unreasonably difficult. Here, the fact that Dan lied 

once about his alibi is probably not enough to meet the standard of "unreasonably 

difficult". It sounds like she has only had one conversation and one email exchange with 

him and did not even try to see if he had a different alibi. Additionally, just the fact that a 



 

client is guilty is not "unreasonably difficult". Thus, Anita likely violated her duty under 

the California rules by withdrawing when it was not permitted.  

Under the ABA rules, an attorney may withdraw if it will not result in unfair prejudice to 

the client. Here, the trial had not started, and Frank was immediately able to hire 

another lawyer for Dan. Thus, it is unlikely that there was unfair prejudice, and Anita did 

not breach her duty under the ABA rules. The ABA rules also permit withdrawal if a 

client's view is repugnant to the lawyer, which Anita can argue that Dan's views are.  

Mandatory Withdrawal 

Mandatory withdrawal under the ABA and California rules arises when a client is 

insisting on a course of conduct that would violate the law or ethical rules, or if the client 

insists on a course of conduct solely to harass another person (California only), or if the 

lawyer's mental or physical condition make it impossible to continue. None of these 

exceptions apply, so Anita is not covered by mandatory withdrawal.   



 

QUESTION 5 
 
 
Arnold and Betty agreed to launch a business selling a durable paint that Arnold had 
developed and patented. They agreed to share all profits and to act as equal owners. 
Betty agreed to contribute $100,000 to the business venture. Arnold agreed to contribute 
his patent for durable paint. Arnold told Betty that he thought the patent was worth 
$100,000. He did not tell Betty that he had previously tried to sell the patent to several 
reputable paint companies but was never offered more than $50,000. Arnold and Betty 
agreed that Betty would be responsible for market research and marketing and Arnold 
would be responsible for incorporating the business and taking care of any other steps 
needed to start the enterprise. 
 
Arnold first located a building within which to operate the business, owned by Landlord 
Co., and entered into a one-year lease in the name of Durable Paint, Inc.  Subsequently, 
after Arnold took the necessary steps, Durable Paint, Inc. was incorporated. At the 
corporation’s first board of directors meeting, Arnold and Betty were named as sole 
directors and officers. During that meeting, Arnold and Betty voted for the corporation to 
assume all rights and liabilities for the lease and to accept assignment of Arnold’s patent 
rights.   
 
Over the next six months, Durable Paint, Inc. faced unforeseen and costly manufacturing 
and supply problems. At the end of the first six months, the corporation had exhausted all 
its capital and was two months behind on rent. To make matters worse, a competitor 
developed a far superior product, making Durable Paint, Inc.’s patent effectively 
worthless. Durable Paint, Inc. had no other assets.   
 
Landlord Co. sued Arnold and Betty personally for damages for breach of the lease.   
 
Betty sued Arnold. 

 
1. On what theory or theories might Arnold be found personally liable for damages to 

Landlord Co.? Discuss. 
 

2. On what theory or theories might Betty be found personally liable for damages to 
Landlord Co.? Discuss. 

 
3. On what theory or theories might Arnold be found personally liable for damages to 

Betty? Discuss. 
 



 

QUESTION 5: SELECTED ANSWER A 
 
 
Arnold's Liability 

There are multiple theories under which Landlord Co. can try to hold Arnold personally 

liable. 

Corporation Formation - when did Arnold and Betty form a corporation? 

De Jure Corporation 

A corporation is a business entity which is separate from its legal owners 

(shareholders). This means that the shareholders of the business are not personally 

liable for the obligations and liabilities of the business. They are only liable to the extent 

of their investment (and for their own torts). In order to form a corporation (known as a 

de jure corporation if properly formed), articles of incorporation must be filed with the 

secretary of state following certain required procedures and including certain 

information.  

Here, Arnold did not take the necessary steps to form Durable Paint, Inc. until after 

entering into the lease with Landlord Co. Accordingly, a de jure corporation was not 

formed when Arnold entered into the lease.  

De Facto Corporation 

If a corporation is not properly performed, the corporation still may be treated as a 

corporation for purposes of personal liability of its shareholders if there is a corporation 

formation statute, there is a good faith attempt to comply with the statute, and the 

corporation acts as if it is a corporation. In this situation, the incorporator must not know 

that it failed to form a corporation.  

Here, Arnold did not form the corporation or attempt to form the corporation until after 



 

the corporation entered into the one-year lease with durable Paint, Inc. Accordingly, 

Betty and Arnold cannot take advantage of the de facto corporation doctrine. 

Promotor Liability 

Promoter liability concerns a situation in which an individual enters into contracts on 

behalf of a corporation before the corporation is formed. In this scenario, the promoter is 

liable on the contract unless there is a later novation (between the corporation, third 

party and promoter) or the contract states that the promoter is not liable, in which case it 

is treated as a revocable offer for the corporation. The corporation is only liable on the 

contract if the corporation adopts the contract. 

Here, while the corporation arguably adopted the contract, the facts do not state that 

there was a novation of Arnold or that the lease stated that Arnold was not liable for the 

lease. Accordingly, Arnold will be found personally liable on the lease as a promoter. 

The corporation, Landlord co. and the promoter would have been required to adopt a 

novation in order to release Arnold from the contract or the lease would have had to 

state that Arnold was not liable. Thus, Arnold will be found liable on the lease under the 

promoter theory (unless he is successful on his claim for corporation by estoppel). 

Corporation by Estoppel 

Corporation by estoppel is another doctrine which allows an entity that is not a 

corporation to be treated as a corporation for purposes of personal liability. This has 

been abolished in most states, but if applicable, it is applied when the entity has been 

treated as a corporation by a third party. In this scenario, the third party is estopped 

from arguing that the corporation is not a corporation. This applies in contract actions, 

but not in tort actions (because tort plaintiffs do not voluntarily enter into torts). This can 



 

also prevent the incorporator from stating that the corporation was not formed as well.  

Here, Arnold entered into a one-year lease with Landlord Co. in the name of "Durable 

Paint, Inc.". Accordingly, Arnold held out the tenant of the lease as being a properly 

informed corporation. Thus, Arnold can argue that Landlord Co. had the opportunity to 

investigate Durable Paint, Inc. and see that it was not incorporated. If Arnold is 

successful in having the court apply this doctrine, Landlord Co. will be estopped from 

arguing that Durable Paint Inc. is not a corporation because it treated Durable Paint, 

Inc. as a corporation, in which case both Arnold and Betty would not be personally liable 

(unless Landlord Co. is successful in piercing the corporation veil, discussed below). 

However, since Arnold never tried to incorporate the entity before signing the lease, the 

court may be reluctant to assert this doctrine. 

Betty's Liability 

Partnership 

Formation - did Arnold and Betty enter into a partnership before incorporating the 

business? 

A partnership is an association of two or more persons to carry on a business for profits. 

Intent to carry on a business for profit is required, but intent to form a partnership is not. 

Sharing profits establishes a presumption that a business is a partnership. Equal 

management rights further add to such presumption. No formalities are required and 

there need be no written partnership agreement. A partnership is a separate entity from 

its partners; however, the partners are jointly and severally liable for all obligations and 

liabilities of the partnership. However, a person that is seeking remedies from the 

partnership must first extinguish all partnership assets before attempting to recover from 



 

the partners personally. 

Here, before the business was incorporated as a corporation, Arnold and Betty agreed 

to launch a business selling durable paint that Arnold had developed and patented. 

They agreed to share all profits and act as equal owners. This created a presumption 

that they intended to carry on a business for profit. Accordingly, before Arnold and Betty 

entered into a corporation, they entered into a partnership. The fact that they "called" 

the partnership "Durable Paint, Inc." is irrelevant for purposes of establishing a 

partnership. Thus, Arnold and Betty were both personally liable for all obligations of the 

partnership  

Authority - is the partnership liable for the lease? 

A partner is an agent for the partnership and has the actual and apparent authority to 

enter into all ordinary business transactions on behalf of the partnership. Actual 

authority is authority the partner reasonably believes she has from the written 

partnership agreement or agreement of the partners. Apparent authority is authority a 

third party reasonably believes the third party has based on the manifestations of the 

principal. A partnership is liable for obligations and liabilities entered into by a partner 

acting with authority. Accordingly, the partners are personally liable for all such 

obligations and liabilities as well (see rules above).  

Here, Betty and Arnold agreed that Betty would be responsible for market research and 

marketing and Arnold would be responsible for incorporating the business and "taking 

care of any other steps needed to start the enterprise." Accordingly, Betty had actual 

authority to conduct market research and market the business and Arnold had actual 

authority to incorporate the business and take care of its other startup needs. Betty will 



 

argue that entering into a one-year lease is not a step need to start the enterprise and 

that, therefore, Arnold had no actual authority to enter into the lease and that the 

partnership was therefore not liable on the lease. Landlord co. will argue that entering 

into a one-year (short-term) lease is a normal step needed to start an enterprise for 

developing paint. Landlord co. is likely to succeed on this point. As to apparent 

authority, entering into a one-year office lease is the type of ordinary business 

transaction that a third could reasonably think that a partner was entering into on behalf 

of the partnership. Accordingly, under either an actual authority or apparent authority 

theory, Arnold likely had authority to bind the partnership to the lease.  

Therefore, Betty would be personally liable for the obligations of the partnership - i.e., 

the entering into of the lease. However, Landlord co. would first have to exhaust 

partnership assets (and the assets are apparently already exhausted). 

Betty will argue she is not liable on the lease because the partnership turned into a 

corporation. While the partnership was dissolved when it turned into a corporation, the 

lease was entered into while the business was still a partnership. She may be able to 

argue that the liability (failure to make payments) was not incurred until the partnership 

was a corporation. If this is the argument, Landlord. Co. can attempt to proceed on a 

piercing the corporate veil theory. 

Corporation's Adoption of the Contract 

As discussed above, a corporation can assume a contract entered into by a promoter by 

adopting the contract after formation. In order for a corporation to adopt a contract, the 

directors, who are in charge of the management of the corporation, must vote by a 

majority to adopt the contract.  



 

Here, the facts state that Arnold and Betty assumed all rights and liabilities for the lease. 

Arnold and Betty were named as the sole directors, and they both voted to adopt the 

contract. Accordingly, the corporation validly adopted the contract. 

Piercing the Corporate Veil 

As discussed above, shareholders of a corporation are not ordinarily liable for the 

obligations of the corporation. However, they may be held liable when the court pierces 

the corporate veil to prevent fraud and abuse. This will occur (i) when the corporation 

does not observe corporate formalities (alter-ego theory), (ii) the corporation was 

undercapitalized, or (iii) to prevent a fraud. 

Here, Landlord co. will argue the corporation was undercapitalized as Betty only 

contributed $100,000 and Arnold contributed his patent. Landlord co. will argue that 

clearly the corporation was undercapitalized because it could not make payments on a 

one-year lease or take care of its startup costs. However, $100,000 is not a minor 

amount, and the facts suggest that the manufacturing and supply problems were 

unforeseen. However, six months is a very fast amount of time to lose $100,000. 

Further, the rent may have been expensive if the lease was for manufacturing space. If 

the lease was for office space, the rent would be cheaper, and the capitalization amount 

may have been reasonable. Ultimately, this is a question for the court, but Betty is likely 

to succeed on this point. There are no facts to suggest corporate formalities were not 

formed as the corporation held a board of director's meeting where the directors were 

named, and no corporate funds are implied to have been used for private use. Further, 

there is no evidence of fraud.  

Accordingly, Landlord Co. is probably unlikely to succeed on a claim for piercing the 



 

corporate veil unless it can prove undercapitalization. 

Arnold v. Betty 

Contribution - Partnership 

When a partner is held personally liable for an obligation of the partnership, such a 

partner may be entitled to sue the partner who is actually responsible for such liability 

for contribution if they violated an obligation to the partnership. Further, a partner is a 

fiduciary to the partnership and partners and owes a duty of care to act in the best 

interest of the partnership and with reasonable care. 

Here, as discussed above, Betty may be found personally liable to Landlord Co. for 

damages for the unpaid rent. However, as discussed above, Arnold entered into the 

partnership lease with Landlord Co. However, he did so with authority of the 

partnership. Accordingly, Betty will probably not succeed against Arnold in an action for 

damages based on contribution under a partnership theory.  

Betty can argue that Arnold breached his duty of care in failing to form the corporation 

before entering into the relationship with Landlord and in failing to properly "capitalize" 

the corporation with a patent. However, Arnold will argue that it was Betty's job to 

conduct market research, not Arnold, and she should have known about the competitor. 

She will likely not succeed on this argument, but she may succeed in arguing that 

Arnold failed to properly form the corporation since he violated his duty of care in doing 

so and thereby injured the partnership. 

Fraudulent Misrepresentation  

A person may be found liable for fraud when they make a material misstatement of past 

or present fact upon which a reasonable person would rely and upon which the person 



 

does, in fact, rely to their detriment.  

Here, Arnold agreed to contribute his patent for durable paint to the partnership. He told 

Betty that he thought the patent was worth $100,000. However, he did not tell Betty that 

he had previously tried to sell the patent to several reputable paint companies but was 

never offered more than $50,000. Accordingly, at worst, he had no reasonable basis to 

believe the paint was worth $50,000, and at best, he failed to disclose a material fact. It 

is likely that Betty agreed to enter into the partnership and corporation with Arnold due 

to an equal share of investment and that this induced her to enter into such business. 

She then lost her investment and was held personally liable for an obligation of the 

business. Accordingly, she may be able to succeed against Arnold on a theory of 

fraudulent misrepresentation for his nondisclosure regarding the true worth of the 

patent. 

Duty of Care - Corporation  

A director owes a corporation the duty of care. Betty can sue Arnold on a derivative 

claim for violation of the duty of care in mismanagement of the corporation in causing it 

to financially exhaust its resources, but the damages would go to the corporation, and 

not to Betty. Further, Arnold can rely on the business judgment rule, which defers to the 

judgment of the directors so long as they act reasonably and in good faith without a 

conflict of interest.   



 

QUESTION 5: SELECTED ANSWER B 
 
 
ANSWER TO QUESTION 5 

I. Arnold's Liability to Landlord Co. 

A. Partnership Liability 

The issue is whether Arnold can be held personally liable as a partner of Durable Paint, 

Inc.  

i. Formation 

The issue is whether Arnold and Betty formed a valid partnership.  

A partnership is the carrying on of a business for profit by two or persons as co-owners. 

There are three types of partnerships: general partnerships, limited partnerships, and 

limited liability partnerships. There are no formalities necessary to create a general 

partnership. A general partnership will be presumed where two parties share the profits 

of a business venture. The parties' subjective intentions are irrelevant when considering 

whether a partnership was formed. Where a partnership is formed, the partnership 

agreement will generally control the rights and liabilities of the partners, but where the 

agreement is silent, the provisions of the Uniform Partnership Act will control.    

Here, Arnold and betty agreed to launch a business selling a durable paint that Arnold 

had developed and patented. Thus, they entered into an agreement to carry on a 

business for profit. Moreover, Arnold and Betty agreed to share all profits and act as 

equal owners in the partnership. Even though Betty contributed $100,000 as a capital 

investment and Arnold only contributed a patent worth $50,000, the two will likely be 

considered to have entered into a general partnership where Betty would be responsible 

for market research and marketing and Arnold would be responsible for incorporating 



 

the business and taking care of other steps to start the enterprise. They did not enter 

into a limited partnership or limited liability partnership, because each require filing for 

certification with the secretary of state.   

Thus, Arnold and Betty were each general partners of a valid general partnership.  

ii. The Partnership's Liability on the Lease Contract  

The issue is whether the partnership is liable on the contract entered into with Landlord 

Co., and if so, whether Arnold can be found personally liable.   

A general partner is considered an agent of the partnership when acting in the ordinary 

course of business. An agent has authority to bind the principal where they have been 

given express authorization to do so. They have implied authority to do what is 

necessary to carry out their responsibilities. If the agent has authority to enter into a 

contract, either express or implied, the principal will be bound by the agreement. The 

agent will not be personally liable unless they did not disclose the identity of the agent.   

Here, Arnold was an agent of the partnership and thus could act as its agent. The 

partners expressly agreed that he would be responsible for incorporating the business, 

but also in taking care of any other steps needed to start the enterprise. Arnold entered 

into a lease with for a building in which the Arnold and Betty would operate the 

business. Entering into the lease would be considered a "step needed" to start he 

enterprise, and thus Arnold was acting according to his actual express authority when 

he agreed to the lease. Because Arnold is a general partner of the partnership and 

acted under his authority to bind the partnership, the contract is binding on the 

partnership. Moreover, Arnold disclosed that he was entering into the lease on behalf of 

the partnership, which he named Durable Paint, Inc. Thus, Arnold is not personally 



 

liable for the contract.  

iii. Arnold's Liability as a General Partner 

The issue is whether Arnold, as a general partner, is liable for the contracts.  

General partners not in a limited liability partnership are personally liable for the 

obligations of the partnership. The general partners are jointly and severally liable and 

can seek contribution from any partners who do not pay their share. Absent any 

agreement otherwise, the partners are liable in the same proportions as they share in 

profits.   

After six months, Durable Paint, Inc. breached the lease agreement. Arnold, as a 

general partner, would be personally liable for the breach by the partnership. However, 

though he is jointly and severally responsible to Landlord Co., the obligations of the 

partnership must be split equally between himself and Betty - which is the proportion in 

which they split profits. It is of no consequence that they contributed different amounts 

of capital investment. Thus, he can seek contribution from Betty for half of the debt.   

B. Corporate Liability 

The issue is whether Durable Paint, Inc. can be liable for the agreement.  

Promoters are those who take the preliminary steps to set up a corporation and 

incorporate it. Promoters are not agents of the to-be corporation, and thus have no 

power to bind it in a contract. However, once incorporated, the corporation can adopt 

the agreement either expressly or impliedly. Adoption can be by a valid resolution of the 

board of directors, which requires a quorum (meaning a majority of directors must be 

present) and a majority of the quorum must approve the resolution. If they do so, both 

the corporation and the promoter are personally liable on the contract. If the corporation 



 

instead executes a valid novation, replacing the promoter with itself on the contract, the 

promoter is no longer liable.  

Here, Arnold entered into a lease with Landlord Co. on behalf of Durable Paint, Inc. At 

the time, Durable Paint Inc. was not yet a corporation because it had not yet been 

incorporated. Because Arnold was taking preliminary steps to incorporate it and set up 

the enterprise, he would be considered a promoter at the time he entered the lease. 

Thus, as a promoter, he was personally liable on the contract. However, the board, 

consisting of Arnold and Betty, then voted to "assume all rights and liabilities for the 

lease." The vote was unanimous and with all the directors present, and thus they had a 

quorum, and the resolution was approved by a majority of the quorum. Thus, the 

corporation expressly adopted the contract. It did not, however, execute a novation, as it 

didn't enter into an agreement with Landlord Co. to relieve Arnold of his liability.   

Accordingly, both Arnold, as a promoter, and Durable Paint, Inc., by adoption, are liable 

on the contract.  

Moreover, even if the adoption was invalid, the corporation would be estopped from 

denying liability. Under the doctrine of corporation by estoppel, an entity that enters a 

contract that was not yet properly incorporated will be stopped from asserting that as a 

defense to contractual liability where it would be unjust to the other party to do so. Here, 

Arnold entered into the contract and listed Durable Paint, Inc. as the lessee. The 

corporation will be estopped from asserting as a defense that the corporation was not 

yet an incorporation to avoid liability.   

C. Piercing the Veil 

The issue is whether Arnold can be held personally liable for the obligations of Durable 



 

Paint, Inc., as a corporation.  

Generally, shareholders and directors cannot be held personally liable for the 

obligations of the corporation. However, if necessary to avoid a substantial injustice, the 

court can pierce the corporate veil and attach personal liability to shareholder where (1) 

corporate formalities are not observed, (2) the corporation is undercapitalized, and (3) 

the corporation is nothing but an alter ego of the shareholders.  

Here, Arnold is presumably a shareholder of the corporation as well as an officer and 

director. Though he would generally not be personally liable for the corporation's 

obligations, the court may be able to pierce the veil. The corporation exhausted all its 

capital in only six months and was thus likely undercapitalized. Moreover, the sole 

directors and officers of the corporation were Arnold and Betty, who are also 

presumably the shareholders. Thus, Durable Paint, Inc. is likely considered merely an 

alter ego of Arnold and Betty. Even though it’s unclear to what extent Arnold and Betty 

did not observe corporate formalities, the court will likely find that it can pierce the veil 

and attach personal liability for the corporation's obligations to Arnold. This especially 

true considering that the corporation no longer had any capital, had no assets, and the 

patent rights that it was assigned for Arthur's patent effectively became worthless, and 

thus Landlord Co. likely could not recover anything from the corporation and would be 

without remedy for the breach.  

Thus, Arnold will be personally liable for the obligations of the corporation.  

 

II.  Betty's Liability to Landlord Co. 

The issue is whether Betty can be found personally liable to Landlord Co. for breach of 



 

the lease.  

A. Partnership Liability 

The rules regarding partnerships are set forth above.  

Just like Arnold, Betty was a general partner in the partnership that was formed prior to 

the incorporation. Thus, as a general partner, she is liable on the contract, as it was 

entered into while the enterprise was a partnership under the authority of the 

partnership.  

Accordingly, like Arnold, Betty can be held personally liable for the debts of the 

partnership, which had no assets by which Landlord Co. could recover at the time of the 

breach.  

B. Shareholder Liability 

The rules regarding corporations and shareholder liability are set forth above.  

For the reasons discussed above, like Arnold, Landlord Co. will likely be able to pierce 

the corporate veil to hold Betty, as a shareholder and director, personally liable for the 

obligation of Durable Paint, Inc.  

 

III. Arnold's Liability to Betty 

A. Duty of Care  

The issue is whether Arnold is liable to Betty for breaching his fiduciary duties to the 

partnership and corporation.   

Each general partner in a partnership owes a duty of care in how they conduct the 

business of the partnership, just as each director owes a duty of care to a corporation. 

Partners and directors must act with the reasonable care that an ordinarily prudent 



 

person would under the circumstances. As a director, this requires acting in good faith 

and with a reasonable belief that your actions are in the best interest of the 

corporation. Under the business judgment rule, a director is presumed to have acted in 

good faith, on an informed basis, and with an honest belief that the action is in the best 

interest of the corporation. If a partner or director breaches a duty, he can be liable for 

any damages that result from the breach.   

At the inception of their enterprise, Arnold falsely told Betty that he thought his patent 

was worth $100,000 when it was in fact worth only $50,000. As a result, he was not 

required to contribute any capital investment in the enterprise, as Betty assumed that he 

had made a contribution equal to her $100,000 capital investment. Thus, Arnold 

breached his duty of care by not acting in good faith when staring the business with 

Betty. However, there is no indication that Arnold breached any duty in incurring the 

obligation to Landlord Co. that would have caused any damages to the enterprise. Nor 

is it clear what damages his breach caused the enterprise.  

Accordingly, even though he breached a duty, he would not be personally liable to the 

partnership or the corporation because it is unclear what damages, if any, resulted.   

B. Misrepresentation 

The issue is whether Arnold can be liable to Betty for misrepresentation.  

Misrepresentation occurs when one knowingly makes a material representation of fact 

with the intent to mislead, and the other person reasonably relies on it.  

It appears Arnold knowingly made a false misrepresentation to Betty regarding the 

worth of the patent, and he did so with the intent to induce a similar value capital 

contribution. Betty then reasonably relied on that misrepresentation to invest $100,000 



 

rather than a lesser amount, which is now lost.   

Thus, Betty may be able to recover for an excess she invested compared to how much 

she would have if she knew the patent was worth only $50,000.   
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